

Functional Genomics of Drought Tolerance in Bioenergy Crops

Hengfu Yin,^{1,*} Chun Ju Chen,^{1,*} Jun Yang,¹ David J. Weston,^{1,2} Jin-Gui Chen,^{1,2} Wellington Muchero,^{1,2} Ning Ye,¹ Timothy J. Tschaplinski,^{1,2} Stan D. Wullschleger,³ Zong-Ming (Max) Cheng,⁴ Gerald A. Tuskan,^{1,2} and Xiaohan Yang^{1,2}

¹Biosciences Division, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37831, USA

²BioEnergy Science Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37831, USA

³Environmental Sciences Division, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37831, USA

⁴Department of Plant Sciences, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, Tennessee 37996, USA

Table of Contents

I.	INTRODUCTION	
II.	GENETICS AND GENOMICS RESOURCES	
	A. QTL and Association Mapping	
	B. Transcriptomics	
	1. Transcriptome profiling	
	2. Drought co-expression networks	
	C. Proteomics	
	1. Proteomics research in monocots	
	2. Proteomics research in dicots	
III.	DROUGHT-RESPONSIVE SIGNALING PATHWAYS	
	A. ABA-Dependent Signal Transduction	
	B. ABA-Independent Stress Signaling	
	C. Crosstalk between Drought and Other Abiotic Stress Pathways	
IV.	REGULATION OF DROUGHT RESPONSE	
	A. Genetic Regulation	
	1. Transcriptional regulation	
	2. Post-transcriptional regulation	
	3. Post-translational regulation	
	B. Epigenetic Regulation	
	1. DNA methylation	
	2. Histone modification	
V.	COMPARATIVE AND EVOLUTIONARY GENOMICS	
VI.	FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
ACH	KNOWLEDGMENTS	

^{*}These authors contributed equally to this work.

Address correspondence to Xiaohan Yang, Biosciences Division, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, P.O. Box 2008 MS-6422, Oak Ridge, TN 37831-6422, USA. E-mail: yangx@ornl.gov

Color versions of one or more of the figures in the article can be found online at www.tandfonline.com/bpts.

With predicted global changes in temperature and precipitation, drought will increasingly impose a challenge to biomass production. Most of the bioenergy crops have some degree of drought susceptibility as revealed for example through measures of low water-use efficiency (WUE). It is imperative to improve drought tolerance and WUE in bioenergy crops for sustainable biomass production in arid and semi-arid regions. Genetics and functional genomics can play critical roles in generating knowledge to inform and aid genetic improvement for drought tolerance in bioenergy crops. The molecular aspects of drought response have been extensively investigated in model plants like Arabidopsis, yet our understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying drought tolerance in bioenergy crops is limited. Plants in general exhibit various responses to drought stress depending on species and genotype. A rational strategy for studying drought tolerance in bioenergy crops is to translate the knowledge from model plants relative to the unique features associated with individual bioenergy species and genotypes. In this review, we summarize the general knowledge concerning drought responsive pathways, with a focus on the identification of commonality and specialty in drought responsive mechanisms among alternate species and genotypes. We describe the genomic resources developed for bioenergy crops and discuss genetic and epigenetic regulation of drought responses. We also examine comparative and evolutionary genomics as a means to leverage the ever-increasing genomics resources and provide new insights beyond what is known from studies on individual species. Finally, we outline future opportunities for studying drought tolerance using the emerging technologies.

Keywords drought, bioenergy crops, Populus, Panicum, genomics, epigenetics, proteomics, transcriptome

I. INTRODUCTION

With the ever-increasing need for alternative transportation fuels, more and more plant species are being used to produce biofuels such as biodiesel and bioalcohol (El Bassam, 2010; Kole et al., 2012). The development and deployment of bioenergy crops are limited in part by the availability of economically viable, agronomic-quality land for biomass production. One of the most limiting factors on marginal agricultural land is water availability. Drought stress on such land limits plant productivity and the deployment of biomass production systems (Yang et al., 2011). Knowledge concerning the molecular mechanisms underlying drought tolerance is one of the critical factors needed for the development of drought tolerant bioenergy crops. Due to the large distribution of semi-arid agricultural lands, species with higher water-use efficiency (WUE) and drought tolerance are favored for biomass production (Somerville et al., 2010). Genomics and functional genomics of plant responses to water deficit have been extensively studied in model plant species (Shinozaki, 1999; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2007).

In general, plant response to drought stress tends to be dependent on species, genotypes and even specific tissues (Dinneny et al., 2008; Iver-Pascuzzi et al., 2011; Munns and Tester, 2008; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2007). Some excellent reviews described the regulation of drought response in model plants like Arabidopsis thaliana and Oryza sativa (Hirayama and Shinozaki, 2010; Seki et al., 2007; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2007; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006). In this review, we summarize the recent progress in functional genomics of bioenergy crops such as Populus and Panicum, with a focus on the identification of commonality and specialty in drought responsive mechanisms among alternate bioenergy species (e.g., Medicago, Jatropha). First, genomic resources for bioenergy crops are described. Second, drought responsive pathways are discussed, along with genetic and epigenetic regulation of drought responses. Finally third, comparative and evolutionary genomics are examined to leverage the mounting genomic resources and to provide new insights into future routes of scientific investigation.

Prior to reviewing the genomics literature, an outline definition of drought tolerance is provided to create a common framework for the reader to place the functional genomics information. Drought tolerance, based on the terminology of Kramer (1980), consist of traits and mechanisms that postpone drought and function to maintain high plant water potential, or they allow the plant to tolerate dehydration with concomitant low water potential. Traits and processes, such as waxy leaf surfaces, leaf curling, leaf abscission, cessation of shoot growth, deep or extensive root development and effective stomatal control, all function to postpone drought. Water-use efficiency, given the associated improved stomatal regulation, falls under the classification of drought postponement. In contrast, dehydration tolerance mechanisms, in the terminology of Kramer (1980), allow plants to function under low water potential and include maintenance of low osmotic potential at full turgor and osmotic adjustment, the lowering of osmotic potential via the accumulation of compatible solutes, or both. In this review, therefore, drought tolerance refers to both drought postponement and dehydration tolerance mechanisms.

II. GENETICS AND GENOMICS RESOURCES

Genomic resources provide the foundation and tools for studying the molecular mechanisms underlying all plant phenotypes. One of the principal portals to genomic information relevant to bioenergy crops is the Phytozome (www.phytozome.net) portal. Other genomic resources publicly available for bioenergy crops are listed in Table 1. In this section, we describe the currently available genomics, transcriptomics and proteomics

Resources	Plant species	Description	References
MaizeGDB	Zea mays	QTL/SNP	(Lawrence et al., 2004; Lawrence et al., 2005)
MaizePLEXdb	Zea mays	Transcriptome/Drought	(Zheng <i>et al.</i> , 2010) http://www.plexdb.org/plex.php?database=maize
PoplarPLEXdb	Populus balsamifera	Drought Transcriptome	(Hamanishi <i>et al.</i> , 2010) http://www.plexdb.org/plex.php?database=Poplar
PopGenIE	Populus	Genome/Transcriptome	http://popgenie.org/(Sjodin et al., 2009)
Switchgrass Functional Genomics Server	Panicum virgatum	EST/Expression Atlas/GBrowser	http://switchgrassgenomics.noble.org/
Jatropha Genome Database	Jatropha curas	Genome	http://www.kazusa.or.jp/jatropha/(Sato et al., 2011)
SoyBase	Glycine max	Genome/Transcriptome	http://soybase.org/(Grant et al., 2010)
CSGR	Sorghum bicolor	Genome/EST	http://csgr.pgml.uga.edu/Data/SorgSig.asp
MtGEA	Medicago truncatula	Transcriptome	http://mtgea.noble.org/v2/

 TABLE 1

 Summary of genomic resources available for drought research in bioenergy crops

resources. Bioenergy crops and related model species that exhibit variable drought tolerance and for which there is genomic information available are presented in Fig. 1.

A. QTL and Association Mapping

Quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping approaches have been widely utilized for mapping drought tolerance related pheno-



FIG. 1. Phylogenetic tree of bioenergy crops and related model species. The color bars indicate drought tolerance of corresponding species with information compiled from literature (Munns and Tester, 2008; Orsini *et al.*, 2010; Xoconostle-Cazares *et al.*, 2010; Yang *et al.*, 2011).

types in Populus. Among these, QTL for osmotic potential (Tschaplinski et al., 2006) and WUE (Monclus et al., 2012) have been successfully identified. In addition to loci for explicit drought response phenotypes, QTL were stably identified for Populus (P.)biomass productivity at sites contrasting in water availability (Slavov et al., 2012). Genetic markers that are aligned to the *Populus* genome facilitate the potential identification of candidate genes (Monclus et al., 2012; Slavov et al., 2012). Despite the earlier successes, there has not been significant progress in utilization of such QTLs to identify specific genetic determinants of drought tolerance. Among the limitations of QTL mapping is the fact that such loci typically encompass tens to hundreds of genes due to limited recombination events among progeny and sparse marker coverage in the available genetic maps (Slavov et al., 2012). This makes the molecular validation of candidate genes cumbersome and economically challenging.

Conversely, recent successes in high-throughput single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) genotyping and whole-genome resequencing to characterize polymorphisms in large assembled populations (Slavov et al., 2012) and complementary statistical approaches, such as association mapping to identify markertrait associations, offer opportunities for further characterization of valuable QTL intervals. In such studies, the non-random association between alleles and phenotypes (i.e., linkage disequilibrium) is evaluated and leads to identification of genetic associations that have been maintained through recombination events occurring over evolutionary time. Studies in several plant species have demonstrated the power of this method in identifying causal mutations down to the individual nucleotide (Buckler et al., 2009). The possibility of applying this technique in Populus was recently supported by the findings of Slavov et al. (2012), who demonstrated that the extent of linkage disequilibrium in P. trichocarpa dissipated rapidly, suggesting that associations between markers and traits can be resolved down to the individual gene level. Applications of association genetics have not been realized yet for the identification of drought tolerance genes.

B. Transcriptomics

Transcriptomic analysis has been extensively used to identify drought responsive genes in many plant species (Deyholos, 2010; Shinozaki *et al.*, 2003; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006). Notably, transcriptome sequencing (RNA-Seq) has greatly improved the throughput of gene expression profiling in drought stressed individuals.

1. Transcriptome profiling

In Populus, microarrays have facilitated the identification of drought-responsive genes (Gailing et al., 2009) and revealed that the time of day and genotype influenced the transcription level in response to drought (Raj et al., 2011; Wilkins et al., 2009). Whole-genome arrays have also been used to study intraspecific variation in drought tolerance in P. balsamifera (Hamanishi et al., 2010). In P. alba, wood formation is related to water availability, but gene expression in multiple cellular functions, such as protein metabolism and cell wall formation, varies with drought (Berta et al., 2010; Giovannelli et al., 2007). Similarly, common drought-responsive genes in different tissues and genotypes appear to have specific functions in regulating stem development under drought (Berta et al., 2010; Pallara et al., 2012). Gender-specific analysis in *P. cathayana* and *P. yunnanensis* revealed that male and female individuals displayed differential physiological and biochemical responses to drought stress, with the female individuals being more sensitive to drought stress (Chen et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2008). Transcriptome sequencing, in response to osmotic perturbations, confirmed that several groups of genes displayed differential expression patterns between male and female clones in P. yunnanensis (Jiang et al., 2012). Furthermore, transcriptome analysis of P. euphratica under various drought treatments (i.e., dehydration, salt accumulation and osmotic restoration) identified common and specific transcripts (Brinker et al., 2010; Yan et al., 2012). Using Affymetrix Gene Chip Poplar Genome Arrays, Willkins et al. (2009) identified divergent responses in gene expression profiles in response to drought stress between two Populus hybrids, suggesting that it may not be possible to describe a common genusspecific drought-driven transcriptome solely based on one or a few genotypes. Indeed, it has become increasingly more difficult to identify the Populus-specific drought transcriptome, because the whole-genome arrays have uncovered great variation in the transcriptomes even within a single species (Hamanishi et al., 2010).

Genome-wide transcriptional changes during drought stress have been investigated in several other potential bioenergy crops, including *Sorghum bicolor*, *Panicum (Pa.) virgatum, Zea mays* and *Jatropha* (Buchanan *et al.*, 2005; Costa *et al.*, 2010; Dugas *et al.*, 2011; Jogaiah *et al.*, 2012; Kadam *et al.*, 2012). Kakumanu *et al.* (2012) compared drought-responsive gene expression in ovary and basal leaf meristem tissues in *Z. mays* using the RNA-Seq approach. Their results indicated that abscisic acid (ABA) and sugar signaling pathways were turned on during kernel development, despite the limitation of water in the short term. Using the Zea mays genome array, transcriptional analyses revealed that in drought-tolerant Zea mays varieties candidate genes in the ABA and carbohydrates pathways wereco-expressed under drought stress (Fuad-Hassan et al., 2008; Setter et al., 2011; Zheng et al., 2010). Transcriptional profiling was also used to identify high-confidence droughttolerance candidate genes in Zea mays (Lu et al., 2010). A recent microarray gene expression analysis of drought responses induced by high salinity, PEG-induced osmotic stress and ABA treatments in roots and shoots of Sorghum bicolor revealed a complex gene regulatory network that was involved in drought signal transduction in a tissue-specific manner (Buchanan et al., 2005). RNA-Seq analysis of multiple tissues in Panicum hallii was used to characterize the expression patterns of more than 14,000 annotated transcripts (Meyer et al., 2012). A transcriptome database was recently created for *Panicum virgatum* (http://switchgrassgenomics.noble.org/). Sun et al. (2012) investigated gene expression in Panicum virgatum and identified two miRNAs that showed significant changes under high salinity stress. EST information was used to identify several droughtresponsive genes in Setaria italic (Lata et al., 2010; Puranik et al., 2011; Sreenivasulu et al., 2004). An EST library from salt-treated roots of Jatropha curcas was recently generated to identify drought responsive genes (Eswaran et al., 2012).

2. Drought co-expression networks

Plant performance can be characterized using co-expression networks and the interaction of such genes can lead to the identification of the emergent properties of plant performance (Bennett and Monk, 2008). For a drought co-expression network, a model may be composed of subnetworks, termed modules, which contain many gene nodes that presumably function in the same biological process (e.g., osmotic adjustment). From a biological perspective, the level of biological organization is important in the emergent properties of a network (Lucas et al., 2011). Although a number of drought-related transcriptional studies have been performed, relatively few have modeled the transcriptome using network approaches (Weston et al., 2008) and fewer yet have modeled the drought-related transcriptome networks in bioenergy crops. The work by Zhang and colleagues (2012) provides an exception to this where the authors identified 15 gene modules from a subset of 2,607 Oryza sativa genes showing highly variable expression under drought stress.

C. Proteomics

The application of proteome-wide profiling approaches in characterizing plant phenotypes is occurring more often (Knight and Knight, 2001). However, drought-related proteomics resources for bioenergy crops are limited. This section summarizes recent progress in proteomic studies on drought tolerance in representative plant species (e.g., *Oryza sativa, Z. mays* and

Populus), including reviews of both whole-proteome studies and specialized investigations on specific proteins.

1. Proteomics research in monocots

Proteomic profiling, together with metabolic network analysis, in *O. sativa* seedlings revealed that the primary upregulated proteins belong to protein processing, protein chaperons, pathogen-related metabolism and enzymes for anabolic pathways, linking an elevated level of energy consumption during drought to conversion between storage substances (Mirzaei *et al.*, 2012; Shu *et al.*, 2011). Intriguingly, besides the usually upregulated components, such as the protective detoxification/oxidation-reduction reaction proteins (e.g., Cu-Zn superoxide dismutase) (Ke *et al.*, 2009; Mirzaei *et al.*, 2012), accumulation of several phosphoproteins was also evident (Ke *et al.*, 2009), agreeing with another report that the protein phosphorylation pattern in *O. sativa* leaf tissue was strongly influenced by the drought signaling hormone ABA (He and Li, 2008).

Proteomic evidence recently suggests that premature stomatal closure in drought-susceptible Z. mays inhibits photosynthesis, which is correlated with lower production of drought related proteins, whereas the drought-tolerant Z. mays maintains active photosynthesis through retaining stomatal opening and producing protective enzymes in response to desiccation stress (Benesova *et al.*, 2012). In wheat, though, drought-tolerant and -susceptible cultivars all seem to display decreased protein production related to photosynthesis and the Calvin cycle (Ford *et al.*, 2011). Alternatively, drought-tolerant wheat has higher capacity to maintain osmotic and ionic homeostasis and to achieve detoxification via accumulation of antioxidants, such as thioredoxin and glutathione S-transferase, thereby allowing a faster recovery from drought stress (Hajheidari *et al.*, 2007; Peng *et al.*, 2009).

Proteomic profiling in Z. mays revealed that the level of lignin content was lower in plants under water-deficit stress (Vincent et al., 2005). Dehydration led to a reduction of lignin biosynthesis in the xylem of Z mays, due to the accumulation of cationic peroxidases and phenylpropanoids (Alvarez et al., 2008). Consistent with those observations, recovery of phenylpropanoid biosynthesis enzymes, notably cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase and caffeate O-methyltransferase, occurs at a faster rate in drought-tolerant Z. mays (Hu et al., 2009). In a droughttolerant O. sativa cultivar, the damaged activities of Rubisco during drought appear to be compensated by an increased level of Rubisco activase and peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase (Ji et al., 2012). Overall, the discussed proteomics studies from both Zea mays and Oryza sativa converge on one theme, in which numerous metabolic and physiological functions are compromised when the plants are subjected to drought stress, yet the rapidly upregulated activities of protective proteins provide the first line of defense to offset some of the adverse effects. Furthermore, once the drought condition is ameliorated upon re-watering, levels of heat shock proteins, molecular chaperones, aquaporins, G-proteins and stress-related proteins decrease sharply (Mirzaei *et al.*, 2012; Zang and Komatsu, 2007).

2. Proteomics research in dicots

Comprehensive proteomic analyses of multiple Populus tissues in response to drought-stress identified a broad spectrum of differentially expressed proteins, with up-regulated proteins in roots including 1) proteins responsible for breaking down and recycling of other proteins and 2) proteins related to secondary metabolite production and plant defense (e.g., flavonoid biosynthesis enzyme, leucoanthocyanidin reductase) (Plomion et al., 2006). These drought-induced up-regulated proteins in Populus correspond well with those reported in Arabidopsis (Koussevitzky et al., 2008). In Arabidopsis the MYB15 overexpression lines was demonstrated to achieve an improved drought tolerance as the result of a higher sensitivity to ABA-induced stomatal closure (Ding et al., 2009), implying that tightly controlled stomatal closure has a positive downstream effect on the synthesis of stress-tolerant proteins. A recent proteomic study on nitrogen starvation during dehydration demonstrated that the decrease in certain amino acids (e.g., asparagine and glutamic acid) and Rubisco in Medicago sativa was linked to the inhibition of nitrogenase activity (Aranjuelo et al., 2011). In Brassica napus a drought 22 kD (BnD22) protein was reported, via an enhancement in nitrogen recycling and utilization, to protect younger leaf tissue from nitrogen starvation caused by drought (Bazargani et al., 2011).

In *Populus*, other factors are known to cause variation in the drought proteome, including tissue type (Durand et al., 2011), genotype (Bonhomme et al., 2009) and gender (Yang et al., 2010). Populus species from higher altitude (e.g., P. kangdingensis), known to be adapted to drought, accumulate fewer oxidative molecules and have less of a decline in the level of proteins for photosynthesis, protein processing, redox homeostasis and carbohydrate metabolism (Yang et al., 2010). Similar to P. kangdingensis, P. euphratica, known for its superior adaption to salt, drought and heat stress (Gu et al., 1999; Gu et al., 2004; Ma et al., 1997), also maintains proteins related to photosynthesis, redox reaction, stress/defense, metabolic processing, protein refolding, amino acid synthesis, membrane transport and cytoskeleton structure under drought stress (Ferreira et al., 2006). It is not surprising that diverse stresses often result in the accumulation of common stress proteins (described in section IIIC). A survey of over 300 proteins associated with the apoplast proteome of *P. deltoides* suggests that the multi-stress response in the apoplast constitutes an important adaptive trait in Populus (Pechanova et al., 2010).

III. DROUGHT-RESPONSIVE SIGNALING PATHWAYS

Drought-responsive signaling pathways have been wellcharacterized in plants, including the ABA-dependent and the ABA-independent pathways (Fig. 2). Under drought stress, the accumulation of ABA activates the expression of



FIG. 2. Drought responsive pathways in plants. Drought commonly induces endogenous ABA production by modulating expression of ABA biosynthesis genes (Blue rectangle). The ABA-dependent pathway is indicated by red arrows and three ABA independent pathways are indicated by purple arrows. Transcription factors (TFs) including AREB/ABFs, MYB2, MYC2, RD26(NAC) and CBF4 are induced by ABA and bind to their corresponding cis-acting elements ABRE, MYB, MYC, NAC and DRE/CRT, respectively. TFs of ABAindependent pathway include ZFHD, DREB2 and NAC(RD26). RD26 is induced through both ABA-dependent and ABA-independent pathways. DREB2 and AREB/ABF are activated by protein phosphorylation. Adapted from (Hirayama and Shinozaki, 2010; Seki *et al.*, 2007; Tran *et al.*, 2007).

ABA-inducible transcriptional factors and consequently regulates the downstream genes involved in metabolism relevant to drought response (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2007; Tran *et al.*, 2007; Zhu, 2002). Still, many drought responses are mediated by transcriptional factors that are not regulated by ABA, but are induced under drought stress (Tran *et al.*, 2004).

A. ABA-Dependent Signal Transduction

The increase of endogenous ABA content under drought stress has been well-documented and the regulation of ABA biosynthesis pathway is associated with organ/tissue type and other environmental factors. In non-seed tissues, ABA biosynthesis occurs in plastids with the exception of the final two steps in which xanthoxin is converted to ABA in the cytosol (Seo and Koshiba, 2002). The initial step of ABA biosynthesis involves the zeaxanthin epoxidase (ZEP), which catalyzes two steps of epoxidation reactions converting zeaxanthin to all-transviolaxanthin. The enzymes catalyzing all-trans-violaxanthin to 9-cis-neoxanthin have not been characterized yet. Another enzyme, 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase (NCED), considered rate limiting, utilizes oxidate 9-cis-violaxanthin or 9-cisneoxanthin to produce xanthoxin in plastids. Xanthoxin is exported to the cytosol and catalyzed by a short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase (SDR/ABA2) into abscisic aldehyde (Seo and Koshiba, 2002). To produce ABA, aldehyde oxidase (AAO/AO), which is encoded by ABA3 in Arabidopsis, is required to oxidize abscisic aldehyde. ABA can also be deactivated by the ABA hydroxylases (e.g., CYP707A3 in Arabidopsis), a key component in the ABA catabolic pathway, and dehydration can increase NCED expression levels, while decreasing CYP707A3 expression (Umezawa *et al.*, 2006).

Recently, the identification of ABA receptors has greatly improved our understanding of the ABA signaling pathway. Two types of ABA receptors in the Pyrabactin Resistance (PYR)/PYR-Like (PYL)/ Regulatory Components of ABA Receptor (RCAR) protein family have been identified (Park et al., 2009; Shen et al., 2006). In the absence of ABA, type 2C protein phosphatases (PP2Cs) inhibit the activity of sucrose non-fermenting-1 (SNF1)-related kinase 2 type of protein kinases (SnRK2s) that are positive regulators of ABA signaling. PP2Cs physically interact with SnRK2s and dephosphorylate Ser/Thr residues of SnRK2s (Raghavendra et al., 2010; Weiner et al., 2010). In the presence of ABA, binding of ABA to the PYR/PYL/RCAR receptors enables the interaction with PP2Cs and releases the PP2Cs inhibition of SnRK2 activity (Raghavendra et al., 2010; Weiner et al., 2010). The SnRK2 family proteins are plant-specific Ser/Thr kinases involved in abiotic stresses and members of subclass III, considered as major components in ABA-dependent signal transduction. SnRK2s can directly phosphorylate downstream targets including membrane proteins (e.g., SLAC1, KAT1 and AtRbohF) and transcription factors (e.g., ABF2 and ABF5) (Klingler et al., 2010). ABAinducible transcription factors (AREB/ABF) play a central role in drought-responsive gene expression, and the ABA responsive cis-elements (ABRE; T/CACGTGGC) have been widely found in the upstream regulatory regions of downstream genes (Hirayama and Shinozaki, 2010). MYB and MYC are induced by osmotic stress and can act cooperatively to regulate downstream genes, such as RD22 or AtADH1 (Abe et al., 2003). CBF/DREB1 mediate gene expression in response to cold, but unlike other CBFs, CBF4 tends to uniquely mediate drought response (Haake et al., 2002).

B. ABA-Independent Stress Signaling

Several drought-inducible genes do not respond to ABA treatment, indicating the existence of ABA-independent pathways (Shinozaki *et al.*, 2003; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006). DRE/CRT is one of the major cis-elements present in the promoter region of various ABA-independent abiotic stress-responsive genes (Nakashima and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2010). Osmotic stress activates other transcription factors including zinc finger homeodomain (ZFHD) and NAM/ATAF/CUC2 (NAC) proteins, which are independent of the ABA signaling pathway (Tran *et al.*, 2007; Vogel *et al.*, 2005). RAP2.1, an AP2/ERF transcription factor, was also reported as a negative transcriptional regulator in response to drought stresses in an ABA-independent manner (Dong and Liu, 2010).

Integration of the ABA-dependent and ABA-independent pathways was revealed by characterization of the *Arabidopsis* gene *RD29A/COR78/LT178* that was induced by drought, cold and ABA in the wild-type, as well as by drought in the ABA mutant *aba* or *abi* (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006).

210

Recently, two protein kinases, *Arabidopsis* plasma membrane His kinase (ATHK1) and subclass III sucrose non-fermenting-1 related protein kinase 2 (SnRK2), were demonstrated to be involved in both ABA-dependent and -independent drought stress signaling pathways (Fujii *et al.*, 2011; Fujii and Zhu, 2009; Wohlbach *et al.*, 2008). The *Arabidopsis* trithorax-like factor ATX1, which trimethylates histone H3 at lysine 4 (H3K4me3), was also found to be involved in the dehydration stress signaling in both ABA-dependent and -independent manners (Ding *et al.*, 2011). More recently, a drought-induced ornithine δ aminotransferase gene in *Oryza sativa*, *OsOAT*, was reported as a direct target of drought stress-responsive NAC transcription factor SNAC2 in both ABA-dependent and -independent pathways (You *et al.*, 2012).

C. Crosstalk between Drought and Other Abiotic Stress Pathways

As more transcriptome analyses have been attempted in diverse species, it is evident that the drought stress pathway is intertwined with other abiotic stresses (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006), as illustrated in Fig. 3. Furthermore, an assortment of the drought- and salinity-induced genes were found to be stimulated by cold temperature (Rabbani et al., 2003), implying a high degree of crosstalk initiated from a few master regulatory proteins. The Early Response to Dehydration (ERD1) protein in Arabidopsis is not only induced by drought, but is also induced during senescence, with two cis-acting elements responsible for dehydration and etiolation located separately in the promoter region (Simpson et al., 2003). Upregulation of antioxidant enzymes, which produce reactive oxygen species (ROS), is thought to play a role in drought and related abiotic stresses; and hyperosmotic stress induced ROS production activates a cell wall diamine oxidase and a plasma membrane NADPH oxidase (Jiang and Zhang, 2002; Lin et al., 2002), suggesting that ROS may mediate signal transduction under high osmotic stress condition. Calcium fluxes and phospholipids were shown to be second messengers of the drought signaling pathway (Boudsocq and Lauriere, 2005).

Other plant signaling molecules, such as jasmonic acid (JA) and salicylic acid (SA) also play important roles in abiotic stress signaling. SA has been proposed to act antagonistically with ABA under drought stress in several species (Yasuda *et al.*, 2008). The dosage-dependent manner of SA in drought tolerance suggests that SA and its downstream signals interact with ROS in the signaling cascade (Yuan and Lin, 2008). The participation of JA in response to drought and salinity has been reported in several species (Kramell *et al.*, 2000; Pedranzani *et al.*, 2003; Pedranzani *et al.*, 2007). The convergence of JA and ABA signaling occurs, in part, through a common set of transcription factors. For instance, AtMYC2 was first identified in the ABA-dependent drought pathway, whereas its mutation was characterized as jasmonate-insensitive 1 (jin1) (Abe *et al.*, 2003).



FIG. 3. Crosstalk between abiotic stress pathways. Blue boxes indicate three major abiotic stresses: cold, drought and salt. Drought and salt generate osmotic stress signal that is conveyed by ABA, ROS or calcium to regulate downstream gene expression. Salt also generates ion stress to regulate gene expression independently. Cold stress regulates gene expression by either ROS-dependent or ROS-independent pathways. Downstream gene like *RD29A* is regulated by both drought and cold signaling due to its dual cis-acting elements in the gene regulatory region. Integration of multiple signaling pathways results in plant stress tolerance.

IV. REGULATION OF DROUGHT RESPONSE

Unraveling the molecular regulatory mechanisms could further our understanding of drought adaption, ultimately facilitating genetic improvements in drought tolerance. Of course, plant drought response is controlled at genetic and/or epigenetic levels. This section summarizes the current knowledge about the genetic and epigenetic regulation of drought responses in plants, with a focus on bioenergy crops.

A. Genetic Regulation

Molecular, biochemical and genetic studies have established that drought stress signaling is regulated collectively by transcriptional activation of drought-induced genes, protein kinase activity, mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades, ubiquitindependent protein degradation, sumoylation and other protein post-translational processes. These genetic regulations can be divided into transcriptional, post- transcriptional and posttranslational aspects.

1. Transcriptional regulation

Among the diverse molecular mechanisms, transcriptional reprogramming plays a central role in plant adaptation to drought (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2007; Tran *et al.*, 2007; Zhu, 2002). Some transcription factors serve as central hubs to modulate expression of multiple drought-regulated genes (Bartels and Sunkar, 2005; Fujii *et al.*, 2009; Shinozaki *et al.*, 2003; Thapa *et al.*, 2011; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2006; Zhu, 2002).

As noted above, transcription factors in the ABA-dependent pathways include 1) ABA-responsive element-binding protein/ factor (AREB/ABF), 2) C-repeat-binding factor 4/dehydrationresponsive element-binding protein 1D (CBF4/DREB1D), 3) myeloblastosis/myelocytomatosis (MYB/MYC), 4) Cys2His2 zinc-finger proteins (ZFP), and 5) WRKY domain binding transcription factors (WRKY) (Bartels and Sunkar, 2005; Fujii et al., 2009; Shinozaki et al., 2003; Thapa et al., 2011; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2005; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006; Zhu, 2002). ABA-independent pathways involve dehydration responsive element binding 2 (DREB2), NAM/ATAF/ CUC (NAC) and zinc-finger homeodomain (ZF-HD). Furthermore, some transcription factor families, such as APETALA 2/Ethylene Response Factor (AP2/ERF), include members involved in both ABA-dependent and ABAindependent pathways. Various drought responsive transcription factors have been identified in bioenergy crops (Table 2).

AREB/ABF, belonging to the basic region/leucine zipper motif (bZIP) class, binds to the G box-type ABA response element (ABRE) (i.e., PyACGTGGC) of many ABA-dependent genes (Kim, 2006). AP2/ERF includes CBF4/DREB1D (ABAdependent) and DREB2 (ABA-independent) transcription factors, both of which regulate via the cis-acting dehydrationresponsive /C-repeat (DRE/CRT) elements of three groups of drought/cold/salinity inducible genes (Abe et al., 2003; Sakuma et al., 2006). MYB/MYC family proteins, which are activated by drought and ABA treatment, bind to MYB and MYC elements within a 67-bp promoter region of the RD22 gene in Arabidopsis (Abe et al., 2003; Abe et al., 1997; Zhou et al., 2009). The NAC transcription factor family is unique to plants and consists of at least 100 members in both Arabidopsis and Oryza sativa (Fang et al., 2008; Qu and Zhu, 2006; Tran et al., 2007). The Nterminal DNA-binding domain of NAC transcription factors is highly conserved, whereas the C-terminal activation domain displays large variability (Hu et al., 2008). The NAC domain interacts with ZFHD, which contains Zn-finger-like motifs upstream of a homeodomain (Tran et al., 2007; Windhovel et al., 2001; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006). Transgenic plants with either overexpressed ZFHD or overexpressed NAC were shown to have a prominent improvement in drought tolerance (Tran et al., 2007; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006). ZFP, a large zinc-finger protein family, has also been implicated in salt, drought and cold response (Ciftci-Yilmaz and Mittler, 2008; Sakamoto et al., 2004). Overexpression of GsZFP1, a

newly isolated soybean ZFP that responded to ABA, resulted in decreased water loss rate and increased expression of other stress-inducible genes (Luo *et al.*, 2012). The WRKY transcription factor family has more than 70 members in both *A. thaliana* and *Oryza sativa* (Eulgem and Somssich, 2007). The WRKY domain typically interacts with W box (i.e., C/TTGACT/C) (Cai *et al.*, 2008; Ciolkowski *et al.*, 2008; Sun *et al.*, 2003). In addition to acting as a positive regulator of ABA-mediated signaling, many WRKY transcription factors have also been implicated in regulating other drought-responsive transcription factors, such as bZIP and MYB (Jiang and Yu, 2009; Rushton *et al.*, 2012; Shang *et al.*, 2010). Despite improved drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis* with ectopic expressed *OsWRKY45*, sensitivity toward ABA was found to be lowered in the transgenic plants (Qiu and Yu, 2009).

Multiple lines of evidence have demonstrated the possibility of manipulating transcription factors for enhanced drought tolerance, simply by overexpressing activators/down-regulating repressors to regulate stress tolerance genes or by introducing either a single or multiple site mutations to engineer alternative forms of transcription factors (Furihata et al., 2006; Hossain et al., 2010; Hu et al., 2006; Kagaya et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2004; Maruyama et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2005; Zhang, 2003; Zheng et al., 2009). For instance, overexpression of AP2/ERF, NAC or MYB family members was reported to enhance levels of soluble carbohydrates and osmolytes in Arabidopsis and Oryza sativa under abiotic stress (Achard et al., 2008; Mattana et al., 2005; Song et al., 2011; Takasaki et al., 2010). Transgenic Arabidopsis with overexpressed soybean GmDREB2, as a means of activating other dehydration-inducible genes, was shown to have an improved tolerance to both drought and salt stresses, while still maintaining proper developmental and growth physiology (Chen et al., 2007).

The promoter regions of many genes encoding dehydrins contain ABRE, DRE/CRT, MYB and MYC regulatory sequences (Jia *et al.*, 2006). Modulating the gene expression of transcription factors with modifiers and redesigning the promoter architecture have been instrumental in fine-tuning drought tolerance (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2005). For example, simply overexpressing native AREB1 does not confer drought tolerance; however, when the regulatory region between the activation and DNA-binding domain of AREB1 is deleted, a constitutively active AREB1 is expressed and the drought-tolerant phenotype is detected (Fujita *et al.*, 2005).

2. Post-transcriptional regulation

In plants, the accumulation of small RNAs under drought has attracted great attention to understand their role in stressrelated responses (Covarrubias and Reyes, 2010; Khraiwesh *et al.*, 2012). In *Arabidopsis*, the levels of 117 miRNAs have been analyzed using miRNA chips and 17 stress-inducible miR-NAs have been identified (Liu *et al.*, 2008). miR393, miR402, miR397b and miR319c were shown to be induced by drought stress whereas miR169 was down-regulated by drought in an

Gene symbol	Plant species	Pathway	Description	References
ZmbZIP72	Zea mays	ABA-dependent	Positive	(Ying et al., 2012)
ZmSNAC1	Zea mays	ABA, cold inducible	Positive	(Lu et al., 2012)
ZmDBP4	Zea mays	ABA-independent	Positive	(Wang et al., 2011)
ZmCBF3	Zea mays	ABA, Cold inducible	Positive	(Xu et al., 2011)
ABP9	Zea mays	ABA, H_2O_2 inducible	Positive	(Zhang et al., 2011)
ZmDBP3	Zea mays	Cold inducible	Positive	(Wang and Dong, 2009)
ZmDREB2A	Zea mays	Cold, drought inducible	Positive	(Qin et al., 2007)
ZmDREB1A	Zea mays	Cold, drought	Positive	(Qin et al., 2004)
DBF1,2	Zea mays	ABA-dependent	Positive	(Kizis and Pages, 2002)
PtaGTL1	Populus tremula × P. alba (717-IB4)	ABA-independent	Negative	(Weng et al., 2012)
PeDREB2a	Populus euphratica	Cold, NaCl, GA ₃ etc. inducible	Positive	(Zhou et al., 2012)
PeSCL7	Populus euphratica	Drought inducible	Positive	(Ma et al., 2010)
GmbZIP1	Glycine max	ABA inducible	Positive	(Gao et al., 2011)
GmGT-2A/B	Glycine max	ABA-independent	Positive	(Xie et al., 2009)
GmERF3	Glycine max	ABA, SA, JA, ethylene inducible	Positive	(Zhang et al., 2009)
GmDREB3	Glycine max	ABA-independent	Positive	(Chen et al., 2009)
GmDREB2	Glycine max	Drought, cold inducible	Positive	(Chen et al., 2007)
GmMYB76, 177	Glycine max	ABA, cold inducible	Positive	(Liao et al., 2008)
GmbZIP44, 62, 78	Glycine max	ABA, cold inducible	Negative	(Liao et al., 2008)
GmWRKY54	Glycine mac	Cold, drought inducible	Positive	(Zhou et al., 2008)
JcDREB	Jatropha curas	ABA-independent	Positive	(Tang et al., 2011)
SbDREB2	Sorghum bicolor	Cold, drought inducible	Positive	(Bihani <i>et al.</i> , 2011)

 TABLE 2

 Drought responsive transcription factors studied in bioenergy crops

ABA-dependent manner (Liu et al., 2008). Similarly, it was reported that miR169g, which regulates expression of Nuclear Factor subunit A, was regulated by drought, possibly in an ABAdependent pathway (Zhao et al., 2009). Comparative profiling of miRNAs in root tissue between a salt-tolerant and a saltsensitive Zea mays line revealed that members of the miR156, miR164, miR167 and miR396 families were down-regulated, while miR162, miR168, miR395 and miR474 families were up-regulated under salt treatments (Ding et al., 2009). Recently, Zhou et al. (2010) identified 11 down-regulated miRNAs and eight up-regulated miRNAs in Oryza sativa under drought stress. More recently, it was reported that miR167, targeting IAA-Ala Resistant3, regulated root architecture under osmotic stress (Kinoshita et al., 2012). Genome-wide identification of drought-responsive miRNAs were recently carried out in Populus, soybean, sugarcane, Panicum virgatum and Medicago with a number of conserved and non-conserved miRNAs related to drought response (Kulcheski et al., 2011; Li et al., 2011; Ren

et al., 2012; Sun et al., 2012; Thiebaut et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2011). In *P. trichocarpa*, miR530a, miR1445, miR1446ae, miR1447 and miR1711-n were found to be down-regulated, while miR482.2 and miR1450 were up-regulated under osmotic stress (Lu et al., 2008). High-throughput sequencing in *P. euphratica* has identified 197 conserved miRNAs between *P. trichocarpa* and *P. euphratica* and 58 new miRNAs (Li et al., 2011).

3. Post-translational regulation

In plants, protein post-translational modification plays pivotal roles in crosstalk between signaling cascades within highly interconnected networks in response to biotic and abiotic stimuli. Specific studies on protein post-translational modification in relation to drought-responsive pathways using woody bioenergy feedstock have not been reported, but efforts have been made in *Arabidopsis* and *Oryza sativa*. Our discussion will therefore focus on findings mainly from these two plants. Phosphorylation by protein kinase, the most widely adopted post-translational regulation mechanism, regulates the expression of a number of dehydration-induced genes in plants. Under dehydration, because of osmolality imbalance, an influx of Ca^{2+} occurs and Ca^{2+} -dependent signaling responses have been reported, including post-translational modification of proteins (Tuteja and Mahajan, 2007). Altering the expression levels of Ca^{2+} -dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) has been suggested to influence the degree of drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis* (Harmon *et al.*, 2001; Hrabak *et al.*, 2003). CDPK activity has also been linked to the accumulation of Late Embryogenesis Abundant proteins (Serrano *et al.*, 2003; Xiong *et al.*, 2002), including many DREB2-induced genes that function in detoxification and cellular damage repair (Bartels and Sunkar, 2005; Umezawa *et al.*, 2006).

Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) represents a hierarchical protein kinase system, which responds to external stimuli in plants and other eukaryotes. The signaling pathway initiated from a stimulus at the cell surface is transduced by a sequential level of protein phosphorylation and activation in the order of MAPKK kinase, MAPK kinase and MAP kinase, leading eventually to translocation of phosphorylated transcription factors into the nucleus to activate other genes (Taj et al., 2010; Treisman, 1996). It was reported that p44MMK4 kinase, transiently up-regulated by extreme drought in alfalfa, was involved in ABA-independent pathway (Jonak et al., 1996). Recently, a nuclear protein kinase similar to Raf-like MAPKK kinase was found to confer drought tolerance by scavenging oxidative damage in Oryza sativa (Ning et al., 2010). Another case implicating MAPK in drought response is a recent observation that ZmMPK3 transcripts accumulated significantly in Zea mays seedlings upon exogenous treatments, including ABA and drought stress (Wang et al., 2010). Furthermore, Oryza sativa OsWRKY30, a member of WRKY transcription factor family, has been shown to increase drought tolerance downstream of the MAPK cascade (Shen et al., 2012). On the other hand, an Oryza sativa MAPK phosphatase, IBR5, induced by abiotic stress, negatively regulates drought tolerance in transgenic tobacco plants (Li et al., 2012).

The ubiquitination/26S proteasome (UPS) system, based on poly-ubiquitination linked through Lysine-48, is a posttranslational modification system that results in protein degradation and serves as an important regulator for many critical cellular processes in plants (Glickman and Adir, 2004; Kurepa *et al.*, 2003; Santner and Estelle, 2010; Smalle and Vierstra, 2004). In this system, a ubiquitin tag composed of 76 amino acids is ligated to the serine residue in the target protein through sequential actions of ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1), ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2) and ubiquitin ligase (E3) (Bachmair *et al.*, 2001; Dreher and Callis, 2007). Earlier observations revealed the diverse roles of different families of E3 ligases, such as RING-H2 zinc finger E3, Ring E3, C3H2C3-type RING E3, RING- E3 and U-box E3 proteins in the regulation of drought response in either a positive or nega-

tive fashion and in either ABA-dependent or ABA-independent pathways (Cho et al., 2006; Cho et al., 2008; Ko et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2009; Ryu et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2007). Recently, OsDIS1, an Oryza sativa SINA type E3 ligase, was reported to mediate the degradation of a seine/threonine protein kinase, OsNek6, and overexpression of OsDIS1 resulted in a decline in drought tolerance (Ning et al., 2011). Similarly, PUB19, an Arabidopsis U-box E3 ligase which is upregulated by drought, is a negative regulator of drought response; and downregulation of PUB19 increases the sensitivity of ABA-induced stomatal closing and consequently enhances drought tolerance (Liu et al., 2011). In contrast, AtAIRP1, a RING E3 ligase, positively regulates the ABA-dependent drought response, and overexpression of AtAIRP1 imparts drought tolerance and rescues the loss-of-function ABA-insensitive phenotype (Ryu et al., 2010). In Oryza sativa, U-box E3 ligase (PUB15), also a positive regulator, is upregulated by drought stress and possesses antioxidant activity that detoxifies reactive oxygen species (Park et al., 2011). The expression of DREB2A is regulated by posttranslational modification (Sakuma et al., 2006). DRIP1 and DRIP2 are negative regulators that target DREB2A for 26S proteasome proteolysis, thus delaying the expression of DREB2Adriven drought-responsive genes (Qin et al., 2008).

Another class of post-translational modification heavily involved in regulation of plant abiotic stress is sumoylation (small ubiquitin-related modifier [SUMO]), which also comprises steps of E1-activation, E2-conjugation and E3-ligation, with E3 ligase determining target specificity (Castro et al., 2012; Colby et al., 2006; Girdwood et al., 2004; Johnson, 2004; Kerscher et al., 2006; Kurepa et al., 2003; Park et al., 2011). In this system, SUMO protein is covalently attached to specific lysine residues of target proteins to antagonize protein degradation by ubiquitination (Johnson, 2004; Kerscher et al., 2006). Sumoylation also mediates changes in protein-protein interactions, regulates protein sub-cellular localization, and exerts its effect at the transcriptional level (Colby et al., 2006; Girdwood et al., 2004; Johnson, 2004; Kurepa et al., 2003). When subjected to dehydration, Arabidopsis SIZ1, a SUMO E3 ligase, controls the expression of about 300 ABA-independent drought-responsive genes, and regulates the accumulation of other SUMO-protein conjugates that induces cell expansion and proliferation (Catala et al., 2007; Miura et al., 2005). Consequently, a siz1 mutant with a reduced level of SUMO-protein conjugates is defective in a number of physiological traits and more susceptible to abiotic stresses (Catala et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2007; Miura et al., 2007; Miura et al., 2005). ULP1c/d, a negative regulator of drought tolerance, and SUMO protease work in concert with SIZ1 to control the dynamics of SUMO conjugation/de-conjugation cycle of abiotic stress-related genes (Castro et al., 2012; Conti et al., 2008).

The sucrose non-fermenting-1-related protein kinase 2 (SnRK2) governs stomatal closure in response to reduced transpirational water loss imposed by drought (Mustilli *et al.*, 2002; Yoshida *et al.*, 2002). The SNF1-related protein kinase-1

(SnRK1) may also regulate drought response by altering the expression of genes involved in carbohydrate metabolism through the ratio of ATP/AMP as its signal (Celenza and Carlson, 1984; Hardie, 2007). In contrast, phosphatase antagonizes kinase activity by removing the phosphate tags. For example, the stress-activated MAPK pathway in plants and yeast is inactivated by MP2C phosphatase (Meskiene *et al.*, 1998). MP2C phosphatase has been proposed to be one component of an elaborate negative feedback regulatory network that requires a refractory period before MAPK signaling can be restarted again after inactivation (Meskiene *et al.*, 1998).

Poly ADP ribosylation is also thought to play a role in drought reponse as shown by the characterization of PARG1, a poly ADP ribose glycohydrolase 1 enzyme in *Arabdopsis* (Li *et al.*, 2011). The stomata of *parg1-3* mutant plants do not close under drought stress, with plants exhibiting an elevated level of cell damage in the presence of osmotic stress and an overall phenotype indicating reduced drought tolerance (Li *et al.*, 2011).

Protein farnesylation, characterized by the conjugation of C15-prenyl residues to the carboxyl termini of specific substrates, plays a role in the negative regulation of ABA signaling (Crowell, 2000; Galichet and Gruissem, 2003; Nambara and McCourt, 1999; Yalovsky *et al.*, 2000; Ziegelhoffer *et al.*, 2000). In plants, farnesyltransferase is heterodimer consisting of α - and β -subunits, each encoded by a specific gene family (Cutler *et al.*, 1996; Galichet and Gruissem, 2003; Nambara and McCourt, 1999). Down-regulation of *ERA1* gene (encoding a β subunit of *Arabidopsis* farnesyltransferase) in *Brassica napus* was reported to improve drought tolerance via enhancing ABA sensitivity, which prompts stomatal closure under dehydration (Wang and Stormo, 2005).

Among the aforementioned post-transalatoinal modifications, SNF-related kinase, CDPK and MAPK-based signaling have all been observed to play a positive role in the increase of osmolytes, such as proline to stablize enzymes, cell structures and protein complexes under dessication (Fujii et al., 2011). Increased levels of carbohydrates and proline can also be achieved by overexpreesoin of NAC and MYB family transciprtion factors, thus reinforceing the principle of heavy crosstalk between regulatory mechniams to defend against drought stress. Dormancy responses, described by reduced metabolism, inhibition of photosynthesis, and cessation of physiological activities until water becomes available, are prevalent in plant species found in arid and semi-arid environments (Hoekstra et al., 2001; Koller, 1969; Mittler et al., 2001). Pnueli et al. (2002) proposed that the dormancy state of a C3 drought-tolerant dessert legume was controlled by a specialized cell redox status that was dependent on post-translational modification.

B. Epigenetic Regulation

Besides genetic control, drought response can also be regulated through epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA methylation and histone modification.

1. DNA methylation

DNA methylation, defined as the addition of a methyl group at cytosine bases of DNA to form 5-methylcytosine, plays crucial roles in regulating genome-wide gene expression and maintaining genomic stability in response to drought stress (Boyko and Kovalchuk, 2008; Chinnusamy and Zhu, 2009; Hamanishi ET, 2011; Saze et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2011). DNA methylation provides a heritable stress-memory (Chinnusamy and Zhu, 2009). Genome-wide methylation in Arabidopsis was recently shown to increase in the progeny of plants exposed to extreme temperature, UV-B, flooding and salt stress, but decrease in the progeny of drought-stressed plants (Boyko et al., 2010; Boyko and Kovalchuk, 2010; Lang-Mladek et al., 2010). A genotypedependent 5-methylcytosine pattern has been revealed in the shoot apices of drought-stressed hybrid poplars (P. deltoides \times P. nigra) (Gourcilleau et al., 2010). Using the clonally propagated Populus hybrid genotypes from DN34 (P. deltoides \times P. *nigra*), Walker [*P. deltoides* \times (*P. laurifolia* \times *P. nigra*)] and Okanese [Walker × (P. laurifolia × P. nigra)], Raj et al. (2011) showed that ramets from clones of separate geographic origins developed different transcriptomes and DNA methylation levels in response to the same drought treatment. Their findings support the hypothesis that the transcriptome/DNA methylationlevel response of a given genotype can be shaped by the history of the clones. They speculated that the older the clone, the more likely the ramets from different locations had a divergent history and, consequently, divergent drought transcriptome and DNA methylation.

Recently, Wang et al. (2011) compared the genome-wide DNA methylation status of two Oryza sativa cultivars with different tolerance to drought (i.e., the drought-tolerant line DK151 and its drought-sensitive parent IR64) through the methylationsensitive amplified polymorphism analysis (MSAP), and found significant differences in the methylation patterns between the two genomes. In Arabidopsis two novel Microrchidia (MORC) adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) family genes (i.e., AtMORC1 and AtMORC6), which cause derepression of DNAmethylated genes, play conserved roles in regulating gene silencing in eukaryotes through higher-order compaction of methylated and chromatin silencing (Moissiard et al., 2012). A mutation in a plant-specific MOM1 gene was also shown to affect gene silencing without affecting DNA methylation in Arabidopsis; however, mom1 mutants did not show chromocenter decondensation and, therefore, were likely to act via an alternate mechanism (Amedeo et al., 2000; Probst et al., 2003). Fan et al. (2012) showed that exogenous nitric oxide treatment decreased the global DNA methylation levels of Dendrobium huoshanense in response to drought stress.

2. Histone modification

Post-translational modification of specific residues on the four core histones (H2A, H2B, H3 and H4) play major roles in regulating genome function, presumably by recruiting of transcription factors or other protein complexes that affect chromatin

structure and state (Hake et al., 2007; Ruthenburg et al., 2007). Tri-methylation of H3 at lysine 4 (H3K4me3), which is catalyzed by a specific histone methyltransferase of the Trithorax (TrxG) group, leads to gene transcription, whereas trimethylation of H3 at lysine 27 (H3K27me3) by a specific methyltransferase of the Polycomb group leads to the repression of gene expression (Alexandre et al., 2009; Alvarez-Venegas, 2010; Liu et al., 2010). Upon water deficiency, nucleosome pattern and histone modification, specifically on the H3 N-tail of four Arabidopsis drought-reponsive genes, are altered to activate their coding region (Kim et al., 2008). Papaefthimiou and Tsaftaris (2012) also identified another putative plant-specific PKDM7 subfamily histone demethylase gene, HvPKDM7-1, that was significantly induced by drought stress. Qian et al. (2012) identified a novel gene, increased DNA methylation 1 (IDM1), required for preventing DNA hypermethylation of highly homologous multicopy genes and other repetitive sequences.

Histone modifications have been detected on the N-terminal tails of H3 in association with four drought-stress responsive genes (i.e., RD29A, RD29B, RD20 and Atg20880) in Arabidopsis under drought stress (Kim et al., 2008). van Dijk et al. (2010) compared the genome-wide epigenomic modification of H3K4me1, H3K4me2 and H3K4me3 patterns in chromatin isolated from Arabidopsis rosette leaves before and after dehydration stress through genome-wide analysis, and found a substantial change in H3K4me3 abundance occurred upon dehydration stress, whereas there were only moderate changes in H3K4me1 and H3K4me2 levels. A recent study on the expression of three major drought stress-responsive genes (RD20, RD29A and At-GOLS2) revealed that the transcriptional activity and chromatin status were rapidly changed from an active to inactive mode during the process of recovery from drought stress, indicating that histone modifications are correlated with the inactivation of drought-inducible genes during the recovery process by rehydration (Kim et al., 2012). It was also shown that most droughtinduced DNA methylation/demethylation loci could be reversed to their original status after recovery (Wang et al., 2011).

Histone modifications are often found to be induced by ABA in response to the drought stress (Chinnusamy *et al.*, 2008). ABA treatment causes severe reduction in the expression of *AtHD2C*, a plant-specific histone deacetylase gene, whereas overexpression of *AtHD2C* results in insensitivity to ABA and enhanced drought tolerance (Sridha and Wu, 2006). The transgenic *Arabidopsis* co-suppression lines (*msi1-cs*) of *MSI1* gene, encoding a subunit of Polycomb group protein complexes and chromatin assembly factor 1, have an increased drought stress tolerance phenotype (Alexandre *et al.*, 2009).

V. COMPARATIVE AND EVOLUTIONARY GENOMICS

Comparative analyses of sequenced genomes or transcriptomes across phyla could provide new insights into drought tolerance beyond the knowledge obtained from genomics studies on individual species. By comparing the drought-induced transcriptome of Sorghum bicolor with other transcriptomes in Oryza sativa, Zea mays and Arabidopsis, Dugas et al. (2011) identified more than 50 drought-responsive genes of unknown function. Six drought-associated gene clusters have been identified by comparing large-scale protein sequences that occur in drought tolerant species (foxtail millet and Sorghum bicolor) and drought susceptible species (Zea mays and Oryza sativa) (Bennetzen et al., 2012). Recently, a homolog of an Arabidopsis drought tolerance DNA-binding transcription factor was identified in the Sorghum bicolor genome by in silico targeted genome mining and comparative analysis of structural and functional properties (Shanker et al., 2012). Comparative evolutionary analyses of multiple sequenced plant genomes have discovered more than 100 non-family genes (i.e., 1-2 copies per genome) that were associated with response to water deficiency (Ye et al., 2013). Comparative genomics analysis has also been performed to examine drought tolerance at the genotype level. For instance, comparative transcriptome profiling of two contrasting Populus genotypes differing in drought tolerance has identified several candidate genes preferentially involved in early and long-term responses to drought (Cohen et al., 2010).

VI. FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Drought response involves multiple signaling pathways that are subject to both genetic and epigenetic regulation. Genetic improvement in drought tolerance is a viable solution to overcome the bottleneck of sustainable production of bioenergy crops in arid and semi-arid regions. Successful genetic modifications benefit from a deep understanding of drought responsive pathways in the target crops. Unraveling the complexity of drought response pathways will require a systems biology approach, including genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics and phenomics. It is apparent that our current understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying drought tolerance in bioenergy crops is very limited, relative to model plants like Arabidopsis. Although the knowledge gained from model plants can be transferred to non-model crops using translational genomics approaches, future genome-scale studies on drought signaling pathways in non-model bioenergy crops are necessary, given that drought response is dependent on species and genotype. The current second generation and emerging third generation DNA sequencing technology, high-throughput phenotyping platforms, and improved informatics resources will greatly expedite gene discovery in bioenergy crops.

One trend in drought genomics research is to understand the molecular and biochemical basis of Crassulacean Acid Metabolism (CAM), which enables a significant increase in WUE relative to C3 and C4 plants (Borland *et al.*, 2009). CAM plants, such as Agave and *Opuntia*, are emerging biofuel crops with great potential for sustainable biomass production in semiarid areas (Borland *et al.*, 2009; Yang *et al.*, 2011). Future exploration of genomics and functional genomics in this understudied domain may open a new door to genetic improvement in WUE in bioenergy crops, as shown in genetic engineering for other traits (Ye *et al.*, 2011).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This material is based in part upon work supported by the Department of Energy, Office of Science, Genomic Science Program under Award Number DE-SC0008834, the U.S. DOE BioEnergy Science Center and the Laboratory Directed Research and Development Program of Oak Ridge National Laboratory. The BioEnergy Science Center is a U.S. Department of Energy Bioenergy Research Center supported by the Office of Biological and Environmental Research in the DOE Office of Science. The Oak Ridge National Laboratory is managed by UT-Battelle, LLC for the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract Number DE-AC05-00OR22725.

REFERENCES

- Abe, H., Urao, T., Ito, T., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2003. Arabidopsis AtMYC2 (bHLH) and AtMYB2 (MYB) function as transcriptional activators in abscisic acid signaling. *Plant Cell* 15: 63–78.
- Abe, H., YamaguchiShinozaki, K., Urao, T., Iwasaki, T., Hosokawa, D., and Shinozaki, K. 1997. Role of *Arabidopsis* MYC and MYB homologs in droughtand abscisic acid-regulated gene expression. *Plant Cell* 9: 1859–1868.
- Achard, P., Gong, F., Cheminant, S., Alioua, M., Hedden, P., and Genschik, P. 2008. The cold-inducible CBF1 factor-dependent signaling pathway modulates the accumulation of the growth-repressing DELLA proteins via its effect on gibberellin metabolism. *Plant Cell* **20**: 2117–2129.
- Alexandre, C., Moller-Steinbach, Y., Schonrock, N., Gruissem, W., and Hennig, L. 2009. Arabidopsis MSI1 is required for negative regulation of the response to drought stress. *Mol Plant* 2: 675–687.
- Alvarez-Venegas, R. 2010. Regulation by polycomb and trithorax group proteins in *Arabidopsis*. *Arabidopsis Book* **8**: e0128.
- Alvarez, S., Marsh, E. L., Schroeder, S. G., and Schachtman, D. P. 2008. Metabolomic and proteomic changes in the xylem sap of maize under drought. *Plant Cell Environ.* **31**: 325–340.
- Amedeo, P., Habu, Y., Afsar, K., Mittelsten Scheid, O., and Paszkowski, J. 2000. Disruption of the plant gene MOM releases transcriptional silencing of methylated genes. *Nature* 405: 203–206.
- Aranjuelo, I., Molero, G., Erice, G., Avice, J. C., and Nogues, S. 2011. Plant physiology and proteomics reveals the leaf response to drought in alfalfa (*Medicago sativa L.*). J. Exper. Bot. 62: 111–123.
- Bachmair, A., Novatchkova, M., Potuschak, T., and Eisenhaber, F. 2001. Ubiquitylation in plants: a post-genomic look at a post-translational modification. *Trends Plant Sci.* 6: 463–470.
- Bartels, D. and Sunkar, R. 2005. Drought and salt tolerance in plants. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.* **24**: 23–58.
- Bazargani, M. M., Sarhadi, E., Bushehri, A. A., Matros, A., Mock, H. P., Naghavi, M. R., Hajihoseini, V., Mardi, M., Hajirezaei, M. R., Moradi, F. et al. 2011. A proteomics view on the role of drought-induced senescence and oxidative stress defense in enhanced stem reserves remobilization in wheat. J. Proteomics 74: 1959–1973.
- Benesova, M., Hola, D., Fischer, L., Jedelsky, P. L., Hnilicka, F., Wilhelmova, N., Rothova, O., Kocova, M., Prochazkova, D., Honnerova, J. et al. 2012. The physiology and proteomics of drought tolerance in maize: early stomatal closure as a cause of lower tolerance to short-term dehydration? *PLoS One* 7: e38017.
- Bennett, M., and Monk, N. 2008. The flowering of systems approaches in plant and crop biology. *New Phytol* 179: 567–568.

- Bennetzen, J., Schmutz, J., Wang, H., Percifield, R., Hawkins, J., Pontaroli, A., Estep, M., Feng, L., Vaughn, J., Grimwood, J. et al. 2012. Reference genome sequence of the model plant *Setaria*. *Nat Biotechnol.* **30**: 555–561.
- Berta, M., Giovannelli, A., Sebastiani, F., Camussi, A., and Racchi, M. L. 2010. Transcriptome changes in the cambial region of poplar (*Populus alba L.*) in response to water deficit. *Plant Biol*. **12**: 341–54.
- Bihani, P., Char, B., and Bhargava, S. 2011. Transgenic expression of sorghum DREB2 in rice improves tolerance and yield under water limitation. J. Agric. Sci. 149: 95–101.
- Bonhomme, L., Monclus, R., Vincent, D., Carpin, S., Claverol, S., Lomenech, A. M., Labas, V., Plomion, C., Brignolas, F., and Morabito, D. 2009. Genetic variation and drought response in two *Populus × euramericana* genotypes through 2-DE proteomic analysis of leaves from field and glasshouse cultivated plants. *Phytochemistry* **70**: 988–1002.
- Borland, A. M., Griffiths, H., Hartwell, J., and Smith, J. A. C. 2009. Exploiting the potential of plants with crassulacean acid metabolism for bioenergy production on marginal lands. J. Exper. Bot. 60: 2879–2896.
- Boudsocq, M., and Lauriere, C. 2005. Osmotic signaling in plants. Multiple pathways mediated by emerging kinase families. *Plant Physiol.* 138: 1185–1194.
- Boyko, A., Blevins, T., Yao, Y., Golubov, A., Bilichak, A., Ilnytskyy, Y., Hollunder, J., Meins, F., Jr., and Kovalchuk, I. 2010. Transgenerational adaptation of *Arabidopsis* to stress requires DNA methylation and the function of Dicer-like proteins. *PLoS One* 5: e9514.
- Boyko, A. and Kovalchuk, I. 2008. Epigenetic control of plant stress response. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen* 49: 61–72.
- Boyko, A. and Kovalchuk, I. 2010. Transgenerational response to stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Signal Behav.* **5**: 995–998.
- Brinker, M., Brosche, M., Vinocur, B., Abo-Ogiala, A., Fayyaz, P., Janz, D., Ottow, E. A., Cullmann, A. D., Saborowski, J., Kangasjarvi, J. et al. 2010. Linking the salt transcriptome with physiological responses of a salt-resistant populus species as a strategy to identify genes important for stress acclimation. *Plant Physiol.* **154**: 1697–1709.
- Buchanan, C. D., Lim, S., Salzman, R. A., Kagiampakis, I., Morishige, D. T., Weers, B. D., Klein, R. R., Pratt, L. H., Cordonnier-Pratt, M. M., Klein, P. E. et al. 2005. Sorghum bicolor's transcriptome response to dehydration, high salinity and ABA. Plant Mol. Biol. 58: 699–720.
- Buckler, E. S., Holland, J. B., Bradbury, P. J., Acharya, C. B., Brown, P. J., Browne, C., Ersoz, E., Flint-Garcia, S., Garcia, A., Glaubitz, J. C. et al. 2009. The genetic architecture of maize flowering time. *Science* 325: 714–718.
- Cai, M., Qiu, D., Yuan, T., Ding, X., Li H., Duan, L. I. U., Xu, C., Li, X., and Wang, S. 2008. Identification of novel pathogen-responsive cis-elements and their binding proteins in the promoter of OsWRKY13, a gene regulating rice disease resistance. *Plant Cell Environ.* **31**: 86–96.
- Castro, P. H., Tavares, R. M., Bejarano, E. R., and Azevedo, H. 2012. SUMO, a heavyweight player in plant abiotic stress responses. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 69: 3269–3283.
- Catala, R., Ouyang, J., Abreu, I. A., Hu, Y., Seo, H., Zhang, X., and Chua, N. H. 2007. The *Arabidopsis* E3 SUMO ligase SIZ1 regulates plant growth and drought responses. *Plant Cell* 19: 2952–2966.
- Celenza, J. L., and Carlson, M. 1984. Cloning and genetic-mapping of SNF1, a gene required for expression of glucose-repressible genes in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mol.Cell. Biol.* **4**: 49–53.
- Chen, L., Zhang S., Zhao H., Korpelainen H., and Li C. 2010. Sex-related adaptive responses to interaction of drought and salinity in *Populus yunnanensis*. *Plant Cell Environ.* 33: 1767–1778.
- Chen, M., Wang, Q. Y., Cheng, X. G., Xu, Z. S., Li, L. C., Ye, X. G., Xia, L. Q., and Ma, Y. Z. 2007. GmDREB2, a soybean DRE-binding transcription factor, conferred drought and high-salt tolerance in transgenic plants. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 353: 299–305.
- Chen, M., Xu, Z. S., Xia, L. Q., Li, L. C., Cheng, X. G., Dong, J. H., Wang, Q. Y., and Ma, Y. Z. 2009. Cold-induced modulation and functional analyses of the DRE-binding transcription factor gene, GmDREB3, in soybean (*Glycine max* L.). J. Exp. Bot. 60: 121–135.

- Chinnusamy, V., Gong, Z., and Zhu, J. K. 2008. Abscisic acid-mediated epigenetic processes in plant development and stress responses. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 50: 1187–1195.
- Chinnusamy, V. and Zhu, J. K. 2009. Epigenetic regulation of stress responses in plants. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 12: 133–139.
- Cho, S. K., Chung, H. S., Ryu, M. Y., Park, M. J., Lee, M. M., Bahk, Y. Y., Kim, J., Pai, H. S., and Kim, W. T. 2006. Heterologous expression and molecular and cellular characterization of CaPUB1 encoding a hot pepper U-Box E3 ubiquitin ligase homolog. *Plant Physiol.* 142: 1664–1682.
- Cho, S. K., Ryu, M. Y., Song, C., Kwak, J. M., and Kim, W. T. 2008. Arabidopsis PUB22 and PUB23 are homologous U-box E3 ubiquitin ligases that play combinatory roles in response to drought stress. *Plant Cell* 20: 1899–1914.
- Ciftci-Yilmaz, S. and Mittler, R. 2008. The zinc finger network of plants. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 65: 1150–1160.
- Ciolkowski, I., Wanke, D., Birkenbihl, R., and Somssich, I. 2008. Studies on DNA-binding selectivity of WRKY transcription factors lend structural clues into WRKY-domain function. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 68: 81–92.
- Cohen, D., Bogeat-Triboulot, M. B., Tisserant, E., Balzergue, S., Martin-Magniette, M. L., Lelandais, G., Ningre, N., Renou, J. P., Tamby, J. P., Le Thiec, D. et al. 2010. Comparative transcriptomics of drought responses in *Populus*: a meta-analysis of genome-wide expression profiling in mature leaves and root apices across two genotypes. *BMC Genomics* 11: 630.
- Colby, T., Matthai, A., Boeckelmann, A., and Stuible, H. P. 2006. SUMOconjugating and SUMO-deconjugating enzymes from *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.* 142: 318–332.
- Conti, L., Price, G., O'Donnell, E., Schwessinger, B., Dominy, P., and Sadanandom, A. 2008. Small ubiquitin-like modifier proteases OVERLY TOLERANT TO SALT1 and -2 regulate salt stress responses in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 20: 2894–2908.
- Costa, G. G., Cardoso, K. C., Del Bem, L. E., Lima, A. C., Cunha, M. A., de Campos-Leite, L., Vicentini, R., Papes, F., Moreira, R. C., Yunes, J. A. et al. 2010. Transcriptome analysis of the oil-rich seed of the bioenergy crop *Jatropha curcas* L. *BMC Genomics* 11: 462.
- Covarrubias, A. A. and Reyes, J. L. 2010. Post-transcriptional gene regulation of salinity and drought responses by plant microRNAs. *Plant Cell Environ.* 33: 481–489.
- Crowell, D. N. 2000. Functional implications of protein isoprenylation in plants. *Prog. Lipid Res.* 39: 393–408.
- Cutler, S., Ghassemian, M., Bonetta, D., Cooney, S., and McCourt, P. 1996. A protein farnesyl transferase involved in abscisic acid signal transduction in *Arabidopsis. Science* 273: 1239–1241.
- Deyholos, M. K. 2010. Making the most of drought and salinity transcriptomics. *Plant Cell Environ.* 33: 648–654.
- Ding, D., Zhang, L., Wang, H., Liu, Z., Zhang, Z., and Zheng, Y. 2009. Differential expression of miRNAs in response to salt stress in maize roots. *Ann. Bot.* 103: 29–38.
- Ding, Y., Avramova, Z., and Fromm, M. 2011. The Arabidopsis trithorax-like factor ATX1 functions in dehydration stress responses via ABA-dependent and ABA-independent pathways. *Plant J.* 66: 735–744.
- Ding, Z., Li, S., An, X., Liu, X., Qin, H., and Wang, D. 2009. Transgenic expression of MYB15 confers enhanced sensitivity to abscisic acid and improved drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J. Genet. Genomics 36: 17–29.
- Dinneny, J. R., Long, T. A., Wang, J. Y., Jung, J. W., Mace, D., Pointer, S., Barron, C., Brady, S. M., Schiefelbein, J., and Benfey, P. N. 2008. Cell identity mediates the response of *Arabidopsis* roots to abiotic stress. *Science* 320: 942–945.
- Dong, C. J. and Liu, J. Y. 2010. The Arabidopsis EAR-motif-containing protein RAP2.1 functions as an active transcriptional repressor to keep stress responses under tight control. BMC Plant Biol. 10: 47.
- Dreher, K. and Callis, J. 2007. Ubiquitin, hormones and biotic stress in plants. *Ann. Bot.* **99**: 787–822.
- Dugas, D. V., Monaco, M. K., Olsen, A., Klein, R. R., Kumari, S., Ware, D., and Klein, P. E. 2011. Functional annotation of the transcriptome of Sorghum

bicolor in response to osmotic stress and abscisic acid. BMC Genomics 12: 514.

- Durand, T. C., Sergeant, K., Renaut, J., Planchon, S., Hoffmann, L., Carpin, S., Label, P., Morabito, D., and Hausman, J. F. 2011. Poplar under drought: comparison of leaf and cambial proteomic responses. J. Proteomics 74: 1396–410.
- El Bassam, N. 2010. Handbook of Bioenergy Crops: A Complete Reference to Species, Development and Applications. Earthscan, London.
- Eswaran, N., Parameswaran, S., Anantharaman, B., Kumar, G. R. K., Sathram, B., and Johnson, T. S. 2012. Generation of an expressed sequence tag (EST) library from salt-stressed roots of Jatropha curcas for identification of abiotic stress-responsive genes. *Plant Biol.* 14: 428–437.
- Eulgem, T. and Somssich, I. E. 2007. Networks of WRKY transcription factors in defense signaling. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 10: 366–371.
- Fan, H. H., Li, T. C., Guan, L., Li, Z. P., Guo, N., Cai, Y. P., and Lin, Y. 2012. Effects of exogenous nitric oxide on antioxidation and DNA methylation of Dendrobium huoshanense grown under drought stress. *Plant Cell Tiss. Organ Cult.* 109: 307–314.
- Fang, Y. J., You, J., Xie, K. B., Xie, W. B., and Xiong, L. Z. 2008. Systematic sequence analysis and identification of tissue-specific or stress-responsive genes of NAC transcription factor family in rice. *Mol. Genet. Genomics* 280: 547–563.
- Ferreira, S., Hjerno, K., Larsen, M., Wingsle, G., Larsen, P., Fey, S., Roepstorff, P., and Salome Pais, M. 2006. Proteome profiling of *Populus euphratica* Oliv. upon heat stress. *Ann. Bot.* **98**: 361–377.
- Ford, K. L., Cassin, A., and Bacic, A. 2011. Quantitative proteomic analysis of wheat cultivars with differing drought stress tolerance. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2: 44.
- Fuad-Hassan, A., Tardieu, F., and Turc, O. 2008. Drought-induced changes in anthesis-silking interval are related to silk expansion: a spatio-temporal growth analysis in maize plants subjected to soil water deficit. *Plant Cell Environ.* **31**: 1349–1360.
- Fujii, H., Chinnusamy, V., Rodrigues, A., Rubio, S., Antoni, R., Park, S. Y., Cutler, S. R., Sheen, J., Rodriguez, P. L., and Zhu, J. K. 2009. In vitro reconstitution of an abscisic acid signalling pathway. *Nature* 462: 660–U138.
- Fujii, H., Verslues, P. E., and Zhu, J. K. 2011. Arabidopsis decuple mutant reveals the importance of SnRK2 kinases in osmotic stress responses in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 108: 1717–1722.
- Fujii, H. and Zhu, J. K. 2009. Arabidopsis mutant deficient in 3 abscisic acidactivated protein kinases reveals critical roles in growth, reproduction, and stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106: 8380–8385.
- Fujita, Y., Fujita, M., Satoh, R., Maruyama, K., Parvez, M. M., Seki, M., Hiratsu, K., Ohme-Takagi, M., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2005. AREB1 is a transcription activator of novel ABRE-dependent ABA signaling that enhances drought stress tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 17: 3470–34788.
- Furihata, T., Maruyama, K., Fujita, Y., Umezawa, T., Yoshida, R., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2006. Abscisic acid-dependent multisite phosphorylation regulates the activity of a transcription activator AREB1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **103**: 1988–1993.
- Gailing, O., Vornam, B., Leinemann, L., and Finkeldey, R. 2009. Genetic and genomic approaches to assess adaptive genetic variation in plants: forest trees as a model. *Physiol. Plant* 137: 509–519.
- Galichet, A. and Gruissem, W. 2003. Protein farnesylation in plants–conserved mechanisms but different targets. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 6: 530–535.
- Gao, S. Q., Chen, M., Xu, Z. S., Zhao, C. P., Li, L., Xu, H. J., Tang, Y. M., Zhao, X., and Ma, Y. Z. 2011. The soybean GmbZIP1 transcription factor enhances multiple abiotic stress tolerances in transgenic plants. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 75: 537–553.
- Giovannelli, A., Deslauriers, A., Fragnelli, G., Scaletti, L., Castro, G., Rossi, S., and Crivellaro, A. 2007. Evaluation of drought response of two poplar clones (*Populus x canadensis* Monch 'I-214' and *P. deltoides* Marsh. 'Dvina') through high resolution analysis of stem growth. J. Exp. Bot. 58: 2673–2683.
- Girdwood, D. W., Tatham, M. H., and Hay, R. T. 2004. SUMO and transcriptional regulation. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 15: 201–210.

- Glickman, M. H. and Adir, N. 2004. The proteasome and the delicate balance between destruction and rescue. *PLoS Biol* 2: E13.
- Gourcilleau, D., Bogeat-Triboulot, M. B., Le Thiec, D., Lafon-Placette, C., Delaunay, A., El-Soud, W. A., Brignolas, F., and Maury, S. 2010. DNA methylation and histone acetylation: genotypic variations in hybrid poplars, impact of water deficit and relationships with productivity. *Ann. Fo.r Sci.* 67.
- Grant, D., Nelson, R. T., Cannon, S. B., and Shoemaker, R. C. 2010. SoyBase, the USDA-ARS soybean genetics and genomics database. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38: D843–D46.
- Gu, R. S., Jiang, X. N., and Guo, Z. C. 1999. Structure characteristics associated with salt tolerance of *Populus euphratica*. Acta Botanica Sinica 41: 576–579.
- Gu, R. S., Liu, Q. L., Pei, D., and Jiang, X. N. 2004. Understanding saline and osmotic tolerance of *Populus euphratica* suspended cells. *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* 78: 261–265.
- Haake, V., Cook, D., Riechmann, J. L., Pineda, O., Thomashow, M. F., and Zhang, J. Z. 2002. Transcription factor CBF4 is a regulator of drought adaptation in *Arabidopsis. Plant Phys.* 130: 639–648.
- Hajheidari, M., Eivazi, A., Buchanan, B. B., Wong, J. H., Majidi, I., and Salekdeh, G. H. 2007. Proteomics uncovers a role for redox in drought tolerance in wheat. *J. Proteome Res.* 6: 1451–1460.
- Hake, S. B., Xiao, A., and Allis, C. D. 2007. Linking the epigenetic 'language' of covalent histone modifications to cancer. Br. J. Cancer 96 Suppl: R31–9.
- Hamanishi, E. T. and Campbell, M. M. 2011. Genome-wide response to drought in forest trees. *Forestry* 84: 273–283.
- Hamanishi, E. T., Raj, S., Wilkins, O., Thomas, B. R., Mansfield, S. D., Plant, A. L., and Campbell, M. M. 2010. Intraspecific variation in the *Populus balsamifera* drought transcriptome. *Plant Cell Environ.* 33: 1742–1755.
- Hardie, D. G. 2007. AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinases: conserved guardians of cellular energy. *Nature Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8: 774–785.
- Harmon, A. C., Gribskov, M., Gubrium, E., and Harper, J. F. 2001. The CDPK superfamily of protein kinases. *New Phytologist* 151: 175–183.
- He, H. and Li, J. 2008. Proteomic analysis of phosphoproteins regulated by abscisic acid in rice leaves. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 371: 883–888. Hirayama, T. and Shinozaki, K. 2010. Research on plant abiotic stress responses
- in the post-genome era: past, present and future. *Plant J.* **61**: 1041–1052.
- Hoekstra, F. A., Golovina, E. A., and Buitink, J. 2001. Mechanisms of plant desiccation tolerance. *Trends Plant Sci.* 6: 431–438.
- Hossain, M. A., Cho, J. I., Han, M., Ahn, C. H., Jeon, J. S., An, G., and Park, P. B. 2010. The ABRE-binding bZIP transcription factor OsABF2 is a positive regulator of abiotic stress and ABA signaling in rice. *J. Plant Physiol.* 167: 1512–1520.
- Hrabak, E. M., Chan, C. W. M., Gribskov, M., Harper, J. F., Choi, J. H., Halford, N., Kudla, J., Luan, S., Nimmo, H. G., Sussman, M. R. et al. 2003. The *Arabidopsis* CDPK-SnRK superfamily of protein kinases. *Plant Physiol.* 132: 666–680.
- Hu, H., Dai, M., Yao, J., Xiao, B., Li, X., Zhang, Q., and Xiong, L. 2006. Overexpressing a NAM, ATAF, and CUC (NAC) transcription factor enhances drought resistance and salt tolerance in rice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 103: 12987–12992.
- Hu, H. H., You, J., Fang, Y. J., Zhu, X. Y., Qi, Z. Y., and Xiong, L. Z. 2008. Characterization of transcription factor gene SNAC2 conferring cold and salt tolerance in rice. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 67: 169–181.
- Hu, Y., Li, W. C., Xu, Y. Q., Li, G. J., Liao, Y., and Fu, F. L. 2009. Differential expression of candidate genes for lignin biosynthesis under drought stress in maize leaves. J. Appl. Genet. 50: 213–223.
- Iyer-Pascuzzi, A. S., Jackson, T., Cui, H., Petricka, J. J., Busch, W., Tsukagoshi, H., and Benfey, P. N. 2011. Cell identity regulators link development and stress responses in the *Arabidopsis* root. *Dev. Cell* 21: 770–782.
- Ji, K., Wang, Y., Sun, W., Lou, Q., Mei, H., Shen, S., and Chen, H. 2012. Drought-responsive mechanisms in rice genotypes with contrasting drought tolerance during reproductive stage. J. Plant Physiol. 169: 336–344.
- Jia, J. P., Fu, J. J., Zheng, J., Zhou, X., Huai, J. L., Wang, J. H., Wang, M., Zhang, Y., Chen, X. P., Zhang, J. P. et al. 2006. Annotation and expression

profile analysis of 2073 full-length cDNAs from stress-induced maize (*Zea mays* L.) seedlings. *Plant J.* **48**: 710–727.

- Jiang, H., Peng, S. M., Zhang, S., Li, X. G., Korpelainen, H., and Li, C. Y. 2012. Transcriptional profiling analysis in *Populus yunnanensis* provides insights into molecular mechanisms of sexual differences in salinity tolerance. J. Exp. Bot. 63: 3709–3726.
- Jiang, M. Y. and Zhang, J. H. 2002. Water stress-induced abscisic acid accumulation triggers the increased generation of reactive oxygen species and up-regulates the activities of antioxidant enzymes in maize leaves. J. Exp. Bot. 53: 2401–2410.
- Jiang, W. and Yu, D. 2009. Arabidopsis WRKY2 transcription factor mediates seed germination and postgermination arrest of development by abscisic acid. *BMC Plant Biol.* 9: 96.
- Jogaiah, S., Govind, S. R., and Tran, L. S. 2012. Systems biology-based approaches toward understanding drought tolerance in food crops. *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.* 33: 23–39.
- Johnson, E. S. 2004. Protein modification by SUMO. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 73: 355–382.
- Jonak, C., Kiegerl, S., Ligterink, W., Barker, P. J., Huskisson, N. S., and Hirt, H. 1996. Stress signaling in plants: a mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway is activated by cold and drought. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93: 11274–11279.
- Kadam, S., Singh, K., Shukla, S., Goel, S., Vikram, P., Pawar, V., Gaikwad, K., Khanna-Chopra, R., and Singh, N. 2012. Genomic associations for drought tolerance on the short arm of wheat chromosome 4B. *Funct. Integr. Genomics* 12: 447–464.
- Kagaya, Y., Hobo, T., Murata, M., Ban, A., and Hattori, T. 2002. Abscisic acid-induced transcription is mediated by phosphorylation of an abscisic acid response element binding factor, TRAB1. *Plant Cell* 14: 3177–89.
- Kakumanu, A., Ambavaram, M. M., Klumas, C., Krishnan, A., Batlang, U., Myers, E., Grene, R., and Pereira, A. 2012. Effects of drought on gene expression in maize reproductive and leaf meristem tissue revealed by RNA-Seq. *Plant Physiol.* **160**: 846–867.
- Ke, Y., Han, G., He, H., and Li, J. 2009. Differential regulation of proteins and phosphoproteins in rice under drought stress. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 379: 133–138.
- Kerscher, O., Felberbaum, R., and Hochstrasser, M. 2006. Modification of proteins by ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 22: 159–180.
- Khraiwesh, B., Zhu, J. K., and Zhu, J. 2012. Role of miRNAs and siRNAs in biotic and abiotic stress responses of plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1819: 137–148.
- Kim, J. M., To, T. K., Ishida, J., Matsui, A., Kimura, H., and Seki, M. 2012. Transition of chromatin status during the process of recovery from drought stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **53**: 847–856.
- Kim, J. M., To, T. K., Ishida, J., Morosawa, T., Kawashima, M., Matsui, A., Toyoda, T., Kimura, H., Shinozaki, K., and Seki, M. 2008. Alterations of lysine modifications on the histone H3 N-tail under drought stress conditions in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **49**: 1580–1588.
- Kim, S., Kang, J. Y., Cho, D. I., Park, J. H., and Kim, S. Y. 2004. ABF2, an ABRE-binding bZIP factor, is an essential component of glucose signaling and its overexpression affects multiple stress tolerance. *Plant J.* 40: 75–87.
- Kim, S. Y. 2006. The role of ABF family bZIP class transcription factors in stress response. *Physiol. Plant* 126: 519–527.
- Kinoshita, N., Wang, H., Kasahara, H., Liu, J., Macpherson, C., Machida, Y., Kamiya, Y., Hannah, M. A., and Chua, N. H. 2012. IAA-Ala Resistant3, an evolutionarily conserved target of miR167, mediates *Arabidopsis* root architecture changes during high osmotic stress. *Plant Cell* 24: 3590–3602.
- Kizis, D. and Pages, M. 2002. Maize DRE-binding proteins DBF1 and DBF2 are involved in rab17 regulation through the drought-responsive element in an ABA-dependent pathway. *Plant Journal* **30**: 679–689.
- Klingler, J. P., Batelli, G., and Zhu, J. K. 2010. ABA receptors: the START of a new paradigm in phytohormone signalling. *J. Exp. Bot.* **61**: 3199–3210.
- Knight, H. and Knight, M. R. 2001. Abiotic stress signalling pathways: specificity and cross-talk. *Trends Plant Sci* 6: 262–267.

- Ko, J. H., Yang, S. H., and Han, K. H. 2006. Upregulation of an Arabidopsis RING-H2 gene, XERICO, confers drought tolerance through increased abscisic acid biosynthesis. *Plant J.* 47: 343–355.
- Kole, C., Joshi, C. P., and Shonnard, D. 2012. Handbook of Bioenergy Crop Plants. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Koller, D. 1969. The physiology of dormancy and survival of plants in desert environments. Symp. Soc. Exp. Biol. 23: 449–469.
- Koussevitzky, S., Suzuki, N., Huntington, S., Armijo, L., Sha, W., Cortes, D., Shulaev, V., and Mittler, R. 2008. Ascorbate peroxidase 1 plays a key role in the response of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to stress combination. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283: 34197–34203.
- Kramell, R., Miersch, O., Atzorn, R., Parthier, B., and Wasternack, C. 2000. Octadecanoid-derived alteration of gene expression and the "Oxylipin signature" in stressed barley leaves. Implications for different signaling pathways. *Plant Physiol.* **123**: 177–187.
- Kramer, P. J. 1980. Drought stress and the origin of adaptations. In: Adaptation of Plants to Water and High Temperature Stress. pp. 7–22. Turner, N.C. and Kramer, P. J., Eds. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Kulcheski, F. R., de Oliveira, L. F., Molina, L. G., Almerao, M. P., Rodrigues, F. A., Marcolino, J., Barbosa, J. F., Stolf-Moreira, R., Nepomuceno, A. L., Marcelino-Guimaraes, F. C. et al. 2011. Identification of novel soybean microRNAs involved in abiotic and biotic stresses. *BMC Genomics* 12: 307.
- Kurepa, J., Walker, J. M., Smalle, J., Gosink, M. M., Davis, S. J., Durham, T. L., Sung, D. Y., and Vierstra, R. D. 2003. The small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) protein modification system in *Arabidopsis*. Accumulation of SUMO1 and -2 conjugates is increased by stress. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278: 6862–6872.
- Lang-Mladek, C., Popova, O., Kiok, K., Berlinger, M., Rakic, B., Aufsatz, W., Jonak, C., Hauser, M. T., and Luschnig, C. 2010. Transgenerational inheritance and resetting of stress-induced loss of epigenetic gene silencing in *Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant* **3**: 594–602.
- Lata, C., Sahu, P. P., and Prasad, M. 2010. Comparative transcriptome analysis of differentially expressed genes in foxtail millet (*Setaria italica L.*) during dehydration stress. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 393: 720–727.
- Lawrence, C. J., Dong, Q., Polacco, M. L., Seigfried, T. E., and Brendel, V. 2004. MaizeGDB, the community database for maize genetics and genomics. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32: D393–397.
- Lawrence, C. J., Seigfried, T. E., and Brendel, V. 2005. The maize genetics and genomics database. The community resource for access to diverse maize data. *Plant Physiol.* **138**: 55–58.
- Lee, H. K., Cho, S. K., Son, O., Xu, Z., Hwang, I., and Kim, W. T. 2009. Drought stress-induced Rma1H1, a RING membrane-anchor E3 ubiquitin ligase homolog, regulates aquaporin levels via ubiquitination in transgenic Arabidopsis plants. *Plant Cell* 21: 622–641.
- Lee, J., Nam, J., Park, H. C., Na, G., Miura, K., Jin, J. B., Yoo, C. Y., Baek, D., Kim, D. H., Jeong, J. C. et al. 2007. Salicylic acid-mediated innate immunity in *Arabidopsis* is regulated by SIZ1 SUMO E3 ligase. *Plant J.* 49: 79–90.
- Li, B., Qin, Y., Duan, H., Yin, W., and Xia, X. 2011. Genome-wide characterization of new and drought stress responsive microRNAs in *Populus euphratica*. *J. Exp. Bot.* 62: 3765–3779.
- Li, G., Nasar, V., Yang, Y., Li, W., Liu, B., Sun, L., Li, D., and Song, F. 2011. *Arabidopsis* poly(ADP-ribose) glycohydrolase 1 is required for drought, osmotic and oxidative stress responses. *Plant Sci.* 180: 283–291.
- Li, Y., Feng, D., Zhang, D., Su, J., Zhang, Y., Li, Z., Mu, P., Liu B., Wang, H., and Wang, J. 2012. Rice MAPK phosphatase IBR5 negatively regulates drought stress tolerance in transgenic *Nicotiana tabacum*. *Plant Sci.* 188–189: 10–8.
- Liao, Y., Zou, H. F., Wang, H. W., Zhang, W. K., Ma, B., Zhang, J. S., and Chen, S. Y. 2008. Soybean GmMYB76, GmMYB92, and GmMYB177 genes confer stress tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. *Cell Res.* 18: 1047–1060.
- Liao, Y., Zou, H. F., Wei, W., Hao, Y. J., Tian, A. G., Huang, J., Liu, Y. F., Zhang, J. S., and Chen, S. Y. 2008. Soybean GmbZIP44, GmbZIP62 and GmbZIP78

genes function as negative regulator of ABA signaling and confer salt and freezing tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. *Planta* **228**: 225–240.

- Lin, C. M., Chen, C. T., Lee, H. H., and Lin, J. K. 2002. Prevention of cellular ROS damage by isovitexin and related flavonoids. *Planta Medica* 68: 365–367.
- Liu, C., Lu, F., Cui, X., and Cao, X. 2010. Histone methylation in higher plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 61: 395–420.
- Liu, H. H., Tian, X., Li, Y. J., Wu, C. A., and Zheng, C. C. 2008. Microarraybased analysis of stress-regulated microRNAs in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *RNA* 14: 836–843.
- Liu, Y. C., Wu, Y. R., Huang, X. H., Sun, J., and Xie, Q. 2011. AtPUB19, a U-box E3 ubiquitin ligase, negatively regulates abscisic acid and drought responses in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol. Plant* **4**: 938–946.
- Lu, M., Ying, S., Zhang, D. F., Shi, Y. S., Song, Y. C., Wang, T. Y., and Li, Y. 2012. A maize stress-responsive NAC transcription factor, ZmSNAC1, confers enhanced tolerance to dehydration in transgenic *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Rep.* **31**: 17011711.
- Lu, S., Sun, Y. H., and Chiang, V. L. 2008. Stress-responsive microRNAs in Populus. Plant J. 55: 131–151.
- Lu, Y., Zhang, S., Shah, T., Xie, C., Hao, Z., Li, X., Farkhari, M., Ribaut, J. M., Cao, M., Rong, T. et al. 2010. Joint linkage-linkage disequilibrium mapping is a powerful approach to detecting quantitative trait loci underlying drought tolerance in maize. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **107**: 19585–19590.
- Lucas, M., Laplaze, L., and Bennett, M. J. 2011. Plant systems biology: network matters. *Plant Cell Environ.* 34: 535–553.
- Luo, X., Bai, X., Zhu, D., Li, Y., Ji, W., Cai, H., Wu, J., Liu, B., and Zhu, Y. 2012. GsZFP1, a new Cys2/His2-type zinc-finger protein, is a positive regulator of plant tolerance to cold and drought stress. *Planta* 235: 1141–1155.
- Ma, H. C., Fung, L., Wang, S. S., Altman, A., and Hutterman, A. 1997. Photosynthetic response of *Populus euphratica* to salt stress. *Forest Ecol. Manage*. 93: 55–61.
- Ma, H. S., Liang, D., Shuai, P., Xia, X. L., and Yin, W. L. 2010. The saltand drought-inducible poplar GRAS protein SCL7 confers salt and drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J. Exp. Bot. 61: 4011–4019.
- Maruyama, K., Sakuma, Y., Kasuga, M., Ito, Y., Seki, M., Goda, H., Shimada, Y., Yoshida, S., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2004. Identification of cold-inducible downstream genes of the *Arabidopsis* DREB1A/CBF3 transcriptional factor using two microarray systems. *Plant J.* 38: 982–993.
- Mattana, M., Biazzi, E., Consonni, R., Locatelli, F., Vannini, C., Provera, S., and Coraggio, I. 2005. Overexpression of Osmyb4 enhances compatible solute accumulation and increases stress tolerance of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Physiol. Plant* 125: 212–223.
- Meskiene, I., Bogre, L., Glaser, W., Balog, J., Brandstotter, M., Zwerger, K., Ammerer, G., and Hirt, H. 1998. MP2C, a plant protein phosphatase 2C, functions as a negative regulator of mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in yeast and plants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **95**: 1938–1943.
- Meyer, E., Logan, T. L., and Juenger, T. E. 2012. Transcriptome analysis and gene expression atlas for *Panicum hallii* var. *filipes*, a diploid model for biofuel research. *Plant J.* **70**: 879–890.
- Mirzaei, M., Pascovici, D., Atwell, B. J., and Haynes, P. A. 2012. Differential regulation of aquaporins, small GTPases and V-ATPases proteins in rice leaves subjected to drought stress and recovery. *Proteomics* 12: 864–877.
- Mittler, R., Merquiol, E., Hallak-Herr, E., Rachmilevitch, S., Kaplan, A., and Cohen, M. 2001. Living under a "dormant" canopy: a molecular acclimation mechanism of the desert plant *Retama raetam. Plant J.* 25: 407–416.
- Miura, K., Jin, J. B., Lee, J., Yoo, C. Y., Stirm, V., Miura, T., Ashworth, E. N., Bressan, R. A., Yun, D. J., and Hasegawa, P. M. 2007. SIZ1-mediated sumoylation of ICE1 controls CBF3/DREB1A expression and freezing tolerance in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 19: 1403–1414.
- Miura, K., Rus, A., Sharkhuu, A., Yokoi, S., Karthikeyan, A. S., Raghothama, K. G., Baek, D., Koo, Y. D., Jin, J. B., Bressan, R. A. et al. 2005. The *Arabidopsis* SUMO E3 ligase SIZ1 controls phosphate deficiency responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **102**: 7760–7765.

- Moissiard, G., Cokus, S. J., Cary, J., Feng, S., Billi, A. C., Stroud, H., Husmann, D., Zhan, Y., Lajoie, B. R., McCord, R. P. et al. 2012. MORC family ATPases required for heterochromatin condensation and gene silencing. *Science* 336: 1448–1451.
- Monclus, R., Leple, J. C., Bastien, C., Bert, P. F., Villar, M., Marron, N., Brignolas, F., and Jorge, V. 2012. Integrating genome annotation and QTL position to identify candidate genes for productivity, architecture and wateruse efficiency in *Populus* spp. *BMC Plant Biol.* 12: 173.
- Munns, R., and Tester, M. 2008. Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. *Annu. Rev. Plant Bio.l* **59**: 651–681.
- Mustilli, A. C., Merlot, S., Vavasseur, A., Fenzi, F., and Giraudat, J. 2002. *Arabidopsis* OST1 protein kinase mediates the regulation of stomatal aperture by abscisic acid and acts upstream of reactive oxygen species production. *Plant Cell* 14: 3089–3099.
- Nakashima, K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2010. Promoters and transcription factors in abiotic stress-responsive gene expression. In: Abiotic Stress Adaptation in Plants, Physiological, Molecular and Genomic Foundation, pp. 199–216. Pareek, A., Bohnert, S. S., and Govindjee, H. J., Eds. Springer-Verlag, The Netherlands.
- Nambara, E. and McCourt, P. 1999. Protein farnesylation in plants: a greasy tale. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 2: 388–392.
- Ning, J., Li, X., Hicks, L. M., and Xiong, L. 2010. A Raf-like MAPKKK gene DSM1 mediates drought resistance through reactive oxygen species scavenging in rice. *Plant Physiol.* 152: 876–890.
- Ning, Y., Jantasuriyarat, C., Zhao, Q., Zhang, H., Chen, S., Liu, J., Liu, L., Tang, S., Park, C. H., Wang, X. et al. 2011. The SINA E3 ligase OsDIS1 negatively regulates drought response in rice. *Plant Physiol.* 157: 242–255.
- Orsini, F., D'Urzo, M. P., Inan, G., Serra, S., Oh, D. H., Mickelbart, M. V., Consiglio, F., Li, X., Jeong, J. C., Yun, D. J. et al. 2010. A comparative study of salt tolerance parameters in 11 wild relatives of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J. *Exp. Bot*. **61**: 3787–3798.
- Pallara, G., Giovannelli, A., Traversi, M. L., Camussi, A., and Racchi, M. L. 2012. Effect of water deficit on expression of stress-related genes in the cambial region of two contrasting poplar clones. *J. Plant Growth Reg.* 31: 102–112.
- Papaefthimiou, D. and Tsaftaris, S. A. 2012. Significant induction by drought of *HvPKDM7-1*, a gene encoding a jumonji-like histone demethylase homologue in barley (*H. vulgare*). *Acta Physiol. Plant* **34**: 1187–1198.
- Park, H. J., Kim, W. Y., Park, H. C., Lee, S. Y., Bohnert, H. J., and Yun, D. J. 2011. SUMO and SUMOylation in plants. *Mol. Cells* 32: 305–316.
- Park, J. J., Yi, J., Yoon, J., Cho, L. H., Ping, J., Jeong, H. J., Cho, S. K., Kim, W. T., and An, G. 2011. OsPUB15, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, functions to reduce cellular oxidative stress during seedling establishment. *Plant J.* 65: 194–205.
- Park, S. Y., Fung, P., Nishimura, N., Jensen, D. R., Fujii, H., Zhao, Y., Lumba, S., Santiago, J., Rodrigues, A., Chow, T. F. et al. 2009. Abscisic acid inhibits type 2C protein phosphatases via the PYR/PYL family of START proteins. *Science* 324: 1068–1071.
- Pechanova, O., Hsu, C. Y., Adams, J. P., Pechan, T., Vandervelde, L., Drnevich, J., Jawdy, S., Adeli, A., Suttle, J. C., Lawrence, A. M. et al. 2010. Apoplast proteome reveals that extracellular matrix contributes to multistress response in poplar. *BMC Genomics* 11.
- Pedranzani, H., Racagni, G., Alemano, S., Miersch, O., Ramirez, I., Pena-Cortes, H., Taleisnik, E., Machado-Domenech, E., and Abdala, G. 2003. Salt tolerant tomato plants show increased levels of jasmonic acid. *Plant Growth Reg.* **41**: 149–158.
- Pedranzani, H., Sierra-de-Grado, R., Vigliocco, A., Miersch, O., and Abdala, G. 2007. Cold and water stresses produce changes in endogenous jasmonates in two populations of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. *Plant Growth Reg.* 52: 111–116.
- Peng, Z., Wang, M., Li, F., Lv, H., Li, C., and Xia, G. 2009. A proteomic study of the response to salinity and drought stress in an introgression strain of bread wheat. *Mol. Cell Proteomics* 8: 2676–2686.
- Plomion, C., Lalanne, C., Claverol, S., Meddour, H., Kohler, A., Bogeat-Triboulot, M. B., Barre, A., Le Provost, G., Dumazet, H., Jacob, D. et al.

2006. Mapping the proteome of poplar and application to the discovery of drought-stress responsive proteins. *Proteomics* **6**: 6509–6527.

- Pnueli, L., Hallak-Herr, E., Rozenberg, M., Cohen, M., Goloubinoff, P., Kaplan, A., and Mittler, R. 2002. Molecular and biochemical mechanisms associated with dormancy and drought tolerance in the desert legume *Retama raetam*. *Plant J.* **31**: 319–330.
- Probst, A. V., Fransz, P. F., Paszkowski, J., and Mittelsten Scheid, O. 2003. Two means of transcriptional reactivation within heterochromatin. *Plant J.* 33: 743–749.
- Puranik, S., Jha, S., Srivastava, P. S., Sreenivasulu, N., and Prasad, M. 2011. Comparative transcriptome analysis of contrasting foxtail millet cultivars in response to short-term salinity stress. J. Plant Physiol. 168: 280–287.
- Qian, W., Miki, D., Zhang, H., Liu, Y., Zhang, X., Tang, K., Kan, Y., La, H., Li, X., Li, S. et al. 2012. A histone acetyltransferase regulates active DNA demethylation in *Arabidopsis. Science* 336: 1445–1448.
- Qin, F., Kakimoto, M., Sakuma, Y., Maruyama, K., Osakabe, Y., Tran, L. S. P., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2007. Regulation and functional analysis of ZmDREB2A in response to drought and heat stresses in *Zea mays* L. *Plant J.* 50: 54–69.
- Qin, F., Sakuma, Y., Li, J., Liu, Q., Li, Y. Q., Shinozaki, K., and Yamagushi-Shinozaki, K. Y. 2004. Cloning and functional analysis of a novel DREB1/CBF transcription factor involved in cold-responsive gene expression in Zea mays L. Plant Cell Physiol. 45: 10421052.
- Qin, F., Sakuma, Y., Tran, L. S., Maruyama, K., Kidokoro, S., Fujita, Y., Fujita, M., Umezawa, T., Sawano, Y., Miyazono, K. et al. 2008. *Arabidop*sis DREB2A-interacting proteins function as RING E3 ligases and negatively regulate plant drought stress-responsive gene expression. *Plant Cell* 20: 1693–1707.
- Qiu, Y. and Yu, D. 2009. Over-expression of the stress-induced OsWRKY45 enhances disease resistance and drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis. Environ. Exper. Bot.* 65: 35–47.
- Qu, L. J. and Zhu, Y. X. 2006. Transcription factor families in *Arabidopsis*: major progress and outstanding issues for future research. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **9**: 544–549.
- Rabbani, M. A., Maruyama, K., Abe, H., Khan, M. A., Katsura, K., Ito, Y., Yoshiwara, K., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2003. Monitoring expression profiles of rice genes under cold, drought, and highsalinity stresses and abscisic acid application using cDNA microarray and RNA get-blot analyses. *Plant Physiol.* **133**: 1755–1767.
- Raghavendra, A. S., Gonugunta, V. K., Christmann, A., and Grill, E. 2010. ABA perception and signalling. *Trends Plant Sci.* 15: 395–401.
- Raj, S., Brautigam, K., Hamanishi, E. T., Wilkins, O., Thomas, B. R., Schroeder, W., Mansfield, S. D., Plant, A. L., and Campbell, M. M. 2011. Clone history shapes *Populus* drought responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 108: 1252112526.
- Ren, Y., Chen, L., Zhang, Y., Kang, X., Zhang, Z., and Wang, Y. 2012. Identification of novel and conserved *Populus tomentosa* microRNA as components of a response to water stress. *Funct. Integr. Genomics* **12**: 327–339.
- Rushton, D. L., Tripathi, P., Rabara, R. C., Lin, J., Ringler, P., Boken, A. K., Langum, T. J., Smidt, L., Boomsma, D. D., Emme, N. J. et al. 2012. WRKY transcription factors: key components in abscisic acid signalling. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* **10**: 2–11.
- Ruthenburg, A. J., Li, H., Patel, D. J., and Allis, C. D. 2007. Multivalent engagement of chromatin modifications by linked binding modules. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8: 983–994.
- Ryu, M. Y., Cho, S. K., and Kim, W. T. 2010. The Arabidopsis C3H2C3type RING E3 ubiquitin ligase AtAIRP1 is a positive regulator of an abscisic acid-dependent response to drought stress. *Plant Physiol.* 154: 1983–1997.
- Sakamoto, H., Maruyama, K., Sakuma, Y., Meshi, T., Iwabuchi, M., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2004. *Arabidopsis* Cys2/His2-type zincfinger proteins function as transcription repressors under drought, cold, and high-salinity stress conditions. *Plant Physiol.* **136**: 2734–2746.
- Sakuma, Y., Maruyama, K., Osakabe, Y., Qin, F., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2006. Functional analysis of an Arabidopsis

transcription factor, DREB2A, involved in drought-responsive gene expression. *Plant Cell* **18**: 1292–309.

- Santner, A. and Estelle, M. 2010. The ubiquitin-proteasome system regulates plant hormone signaling. *Plant J.* 61: 1029–1040.
- Sato, S., Hirakawa, H., Isobe, S., Fukai, E., Watanabe, A., Kato, M., Kawashima, K., Minami, C., Muraki, A., Nakazaki, N. et al. 2011. Sequence analysis of the genome of an oil-bearing tree, *Jatropha curcas* L. DNA Research 18: 65–76.
- Saze, H., Tsugane, K., Kanno, T., and Nishimura, T. 2012. DNA methylation in plants: relationship to small RNAs and histone modifications, and functions in transposon inactivation. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 53: 766–784.
- Seki, M., Umezawa, T., Urano, K., and Shinozaki, K. 2007. Regulatory metabolic networks in drought stress responses. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 10: 296–302.
- Seo, M. and Koshiba, T. 2002. Complex regulation of ABA biosynthesis in plants. *Trends Plant Sci.* 7: 41–48.
- Serrano, R., Gaxiola, R., Rios, G., Forment, J., Vicente, O., and Ros, R. 2003. Salt stress proteins identified by a functional approach in yeast. *Monatshefte Fur Chemie* 134: 1445–1464.
- Setter, T. L., Yan, J., Warburton, M., Ribaut, J. M., Xu, Y., Sawkins, M., Buckler, E. S., Zhang, Z., and Gore, M. A. 2011. Genetic association mapping identifies single nucleotide polymorphisms in genes that affect abscisic acid levels in maize floral tissues during drought. J. Exp. Bot. 62: 701–716.
- Shang, Y., Yan, L., Liu, Z. Q., Cao, Z., Mei, C., Xin, Q., Wu, F. Q., Wang, X. F., Du, S. Y., Jiang, T. et al. 2010. The Mg-chelatase H subunit of *Arabidopsis* antagonizes a group of WRKY transcription repressors to relieve ABA-responsive genes of inhibition. *Plant Cell* 22: 1909–1935.
- Shanker, A. K., Maddaala, A., Kumar, M. A., Yadav, S. K., Maheswari, M., and Venkateswarlu, B. 2012. In silico targeted genome mining and comparative modelling reveals a putative protein similar to an *Arabidopsis* drought tolerance DNA binding transcription factor in Chromosome 6 of *Sorghum bicolor* genome. *Interdiscip. Sci.* 4: 133–141.
- Shen, H., Liu, C., Zhang, Y., Meng, X., Zhou, X., Chu, C., and Wang, X. 2012. OsWRKY30 is activated by MAP kinases to confer drought tolerance in rice. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 80: 241–253.
- Shen, Y. Y., Wang, X. F., Wu, F. Q., Du, S. Y., Cao, Z., Shang, Y., Wang, X. L., Peng, C. C., Yu, X. C., Zhu, S. Y. et al. 2006. The Mg-chelatase H subunit is an abscisic acid receptor. *Nature* 443: 823–826.
- Shinozaki, K. 1999. Plant response to drought and salt stress: overview. Tanpakushitsu Kakusan Koso 44: 2186–2187.
- Shinozaki, K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2007. Gene networks involved in drought stress response and tolerance. J. Exp. Bot. 58: 221–227.
- Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Seki, M. 2003. Regulatory network of gene expression in the drought and cold stress responses. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 6: 410–417.
- Shu, L., Lou, Q., Ma, C., Ding, W., Zhou, J., Wu, J., Feng, F., Lu, X., Luo, L., Xu, G. et al. 2011. Genetic, proteomic and metabolic analysis of the regulation of energy storage in rice seedlings in response to drought. *Proteomics* 11: 4122–4138.
- Simpson, S. D., Nakashima, K., Narusaka, Y., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2003. Two different novel cis-acting elements of erd1, a clpA homologous *Arabidopsis* gene function in induction by dehydration stress and dark-induced senescence. *Plant J.* 33: 259–270.
- Sjodin, A., Street, N. R., Sandberg, G., Gustafsson, P., and Jansson, S. 2009. The *Populus* Genome Integrative Explorer (PopGenIE): a new resource for exploring the *Populus* genome. *New Phytol.* 182: 1013–1025.
- Slavov, G. T., Difazio, S. P., Martin, J., Schackwitz, W., Muchero, W., Rodgers-Melnick, E., Lipphardt, M. F., Pennacchio, C. P., Hellsten, U., Pennacchio, L. A. et al. 2012. Genome resequencing reveals multiscale geographic structure and extensive linkage disequilibrium in the forest tree *Populus trichocarpa*. *New Phytol.* **196**: 713–725.
- Smalle, J. and Vierstra, R. D. 2004. The ubiquitin 26S proteasome proteolytic pathway. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 55: 555–590.

- Somerville, C., Youngs, H., Taylor, C., Davis, S. C., and Long, S. P. 2010. Feedstocks for lignocellulosic biofuels. *Science* 329: 790–792.
- Song, S. Y., Chen, Y., Chen, J., Dai, X. Y., and Zhang, W. H. 2011. Physiological mechanisms underlying OsNAC5-dependent tolerance of rice plants to abiotic stress. *Planta* 234: 331–345.
- Sreenivasulu, N., Miranda, M., Prakash, H. S., Wobus, U., and Weschke, W. 2004. Transcriptome changes in foxtail millet genotypes at high salinity: Identification and characterization of a PHGPX gene specifically up-regulated by NaCl in a salt-tolerant line. *J. Plant Physiol.* **161**: 467–477.
- Sridha, S. and Wu, K. 2006. Identification of AtHD2C as a novel regulator of abscisic acid responses in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J.* 46: 124–133.
- Sun, C., Palmqvist, S., Olsson, H., Boren, M., Ahlandsberg, S., and Jansson, C. 2003. A novel WRKY transcription factor, SUSIBA2, participates in sugar signaling in barley by binding to the sugar-responsive elements of the iso1 promoter. *Plant Cell* 15: 2076–2092.
- Sun, G., Stewart, C. N., Jr., Xiao, P., and Zhang, B. 2012. MicroRNA expression analysis in the cellulosic biofuel crop switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) under abiotic stress. *PLoS One* 7: e32017.
- Taj, G., Agarwal, P., Grant, M., and Kumar, A. 2010. MAPK machinery in plants: recognition and response to different stresses through multiple signal transduction pathways. *Plant Signal Behav.* 5: 1370–1378.
- Takasaki, H., Maruyama, K., Kidokoro, S., Ito, Y., Fujita, Y., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Nakashima, K. 2010. The abiotic stressresponsive NAC-type transcription factor OsNAC5 regulates stress-inducible genes and stress tolerance in rice. *Mol. Genet. Genom.* 284: 173–183.
- Tang, M., Liu, X., Deng, H., and Shen, S. 2011. Over-expression of JcDREB, a putative AP2/EREBP domain-containing transcription factor gene in woody biodiesel plant Jatropha curcas, enhances salt and freezing tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Sci.* 181: 623–631.
- Thapa, G., Dey, M., Sahoo, L., and Panda, S. K. 2011. An insight into the drought stress induced alterations in plants. *Biologia Plantarum* 55: 603–613.
- Thiebaut, F., Grativol, C., Carnavale-Bottino, M., Rojas, C. A., Tanurdzic, M., Farinelli, L., Martienssen, R. A., Hemerly, A. S., and Ferreira, P. C. 2012. Computational identification and analysis of novel sugarcane microRNAs. *BMC Genomics* 13: 290.
- Tran, L. S., Nakashima, K., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2007. Plant gene networks in osmotic stress response: from genes to regulatory networks. *Methods Enzymol.* 428: 109–128.
- Tran, L. S. P., Nakashima, K., Sakuma, Y., Osakabe, Y., Qin, F., Simpson, S. D., Maruyama, K., Fujita, Y., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2007. Co-expression of the stress-inducible zinc finger homeodomain ZFHD1 and NAC transcription factors enhances expression of the ERD1 gene in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J.* **49**: 46–63.
- Tran, L. S. P., Nakashima, K., Sakuma, Y., Simpson, S. D., Fujita, Y., Maruyama, K., Fujita, M., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. 2004. Isolation and functional analysis of *Arabidopsis* stress-inducible NAC transcription factors that bind to a drought-responsive cis-element in the early responsive to dehydration stress 1 promoter. *Plant Cell* 16: 2481–2498.
- Treisman, R. 1996. Regulation of transcription by MAP kinase cascades. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 8: 205215.
- Tschaplinski, T. J., Tuskan, G. A., Sewell, M. M., Gebre, G. M., Todd, D. E., and Pendley, C. D. 2006. Phenotypic variation and quantitative trait locus identification for osmotic potential in an interspecific hybrid inbred F2 poplar pedigree grown in contrasting environments. *Tree Physiol.* 26: 595–604.
- Tuteja, N., and Mahajan, S. 2007. Calcium signaling network in plants: an overview. *Plant Signal Behav.* 2: 79–85.
- Umezawa, T., Okamoto, M., Kushiro, T., Nambara, E., Oono, Y., Seki, M., Kobayashi, M., Koshiba, T., Kamiya, Y., and Shinozaki, K. 2006. CYP707A3, a major ABA 8 '-hydroxylase involved in dehydration and rehydration response in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant J.* 46: 171–182.
- van Dijk, K., Ding, Y., Malkaram, S., Riethoven, J. J., Liu, R., Yang, J., Laczko, P., Chen, H., Xia, Y., Ladunga, I. et al. 2010. Dynamic changes in genomewide histone H3 lysine 4 methylation patterns in response to dehydration stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *BMC Plant Biol*. **10**: 238.

- Vincent, D., Lapierre, C., Pollet, B., Cornic, G., Negroni, L., and Zivy, M. 2005. Water deficits affect caffeate O-methyltransferase, lignification, and related enzymes in maize leaves. A proteomic investigation. *Plant Physiol.* 137: 949–960.
- Vogel, J. T., Zarka, D. G., Van Buskirk, H. A., Fowler, S. G., and Thomashow, M. F. 2005. Roles of the CBF2 and ZAT12 transcription factors in configuring the low temperature transcriptome of *Arabidopsis. Plant J.* **41**: 195–211.
- Wang, C. T. and Dong, Y. M. 2009. Overexpression of maize ZmDBP3 enhances tolerance to drought and cold stress in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. *Biologia* 64: 1108–1114.
- Wang, C. T., Yang, Q. A., and Yang, Y. M. 2011. Characterization of the ZmDBP4 gene encoding a CRT/DRE-binding protein responsive to drought and cold stress in maize. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum* 33: 575–583.
- Wang, J., Ding, H., Zhang, A., Ma, F., Cao, J., and Jiang, M. 2010. A novel mitogen-activated protein kinase gene in maize (*Zea mays*), ZmMPK3, is involved in response to diverse environmental cues. *J. Integr. Plant Biol.* 52: 442–452.
- Wang, T., Chen, L., Zhao, M., Tian, Q., and Zhang, W. H. 2011. Identification of drought-responsive microRNAs in *Medicago truncatula* by genome-wide high-throughput sequencing. *BMC Genomics* 12: 367.
- Wang, T. and Stormo, G. D. 2005. Identifying the conserved network of cisregulatory sites of a eukaryotic genome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 102: 17400–17405.
- Wang, W. S., Pan, Y. J., Zhao, X. Q., Dwivedi, D., Zhu, L. H., Ali, J., Fu, B. Y., and Li, Z. K. 2011. Drought-induced site-specific DNA methylation and its association with drought tolerance in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). J. Exp. Bot. 62: 1951–1960.
- Weiner, J. J., Peterson, F. C., Volkman, B. F., and Cutler, S. R. 2010. Structural and functional insights into core ABA signaling. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 13: 495–502.
- Weng, H., Yoo, C. Y., Gosney, M. J., Hasegawa, P. M., and Mickelbart, M. V. 2012. Poplar GTL1 is a Ca2+/calmodulin-binding transcription factor that functions in plant water use efficiency and drought tolerance. *PLoS One* 7: e32925.
- Weston, D. J., Gunter, L. E., Rogers, A., and Wullschleger, S. D. 2008. Connecting genes, coexpression modules, and molecular signatures to environmental stress phenotypes in plants. *BMC Syst. Biol.* 2: 16.
- Wilkins, O., Waldron, L., Nahal, H., Provart, N. J., and Campbel, IM. M. 2009. Genotype and time of day shape the *Populus* drought response. *Plant J.* 60: 703–715.
- Windhovel, A., Hein, I., Dabrowa, R., and Stockhaus, J. 2001. Characterization of a novel class of plant homeodomain proteins that bind to the C4 phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase gene of *Flaveria trinervia*. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **45**: 201–214.
- Wohlbach, D. J., Quirino, B. F., and Sussman, M. R. 2008. Analysis of the *Arabidopsis* histidine kinase ATHK1 reveals a connection between vegetative osmotic stress sensing and seed maturation. *Plant Cell* 20: 1101–1117.
- Xie, Z. M., Zou, H. F., Lei, G., Wei, W., Zhou, Q. Y., Niu, C. F., Liao, Y., Tian, A. G., Ma, B., Zhang, W. K. et al. 2009. Soybean Trihelix transcription factors GmGT-2A and GmGT-2B improve plant tolerance to abiotic stresses in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. *PLoS One* **4**: e6898.
- Xiong, L., Schumaker, K. S., and Zhu, J. K. 2002. Cell signaling during cold, drought, and salt stress. *Plant Cell* 14 Suppl: S165–183.
- Xoconostle-Cazares, B., Ramirez-Ortega, F. A., Flores-Elenes, L., and Ruiz-Medrano, R. 2010. Drought tolerance in crop plants. *Am. J. Plant Physiol.* 5: 241–256.
- Xu, M., Li L., Fan, Y., Wan, J., and Wang, L. 2011. ZmCBF3 overexpression improves tolerance to abiotic stress in transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa*) without yield penalty. *Plant Cell Rep.* **30**: 1949–1957.
- Xu, X., Peng, G., Wu, C., Korpelainen, H., and Li, C. 2008. Drought inhibits photosynthetic capacity more in females than in males of *Populus cathayana*. *Tree Physiol.* 28: 1751–1759.
- Yalovsky, S., Kulukian, A., Rodriguez-Concepcion, M., Young, C. A., and Gruissem, W. 2000. Functional requirement of plant farnesyltransferase during development in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* **12**: 1267–1278.

- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. and Shinozaki, K. 2005. Organization of cis-acting regulatory elements in osmotic- and cold-stress-responsive promoters. *Trends Plant Sci.* 10: 88–94.
- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. and Shinozaki, K. 2006. Transcriptional regulatory networks in cellular responses and tolerance to dehydration and cold stresses. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 57: 781–803.
- Yan, D. H., Fenning, T., Tang, S., Xia, X., and Yin, W. 2012. Genome-wide transcriptional response of *Populus euphratica* to long-term drought stress. *Plant Sci.* 195: 24–35.
- Yang, F., Wang, Y., and Miao, L. F. 2010. Comparative physiological and proteomic responses to drought stress in two poplar species originating from different altitudes. *Physiol. Plant* **139**: 388– 400.
- Yang, X., Li, T., Weston, D., Karve, A., Labbe, J. L., Gunter, L. E., Sukumar, P., Borland, A., Chen, J.-G., Wullschleger, S. D. et al. 2011. Innovative biological solutions to challenges in sustainable biofuels production. In: *Biofuel Production-Recent Developments and Prospects*. pp. 375–414. Bernardes, M.A.D.S, Ed. Intech, Rijeka
- Yasuda, M., Ishikawa, A., Jikumaru, Y., Seki, M., Umezawa, T., Asami, T., Maruyama-Nakashita, A., Kudo, T., Shinozaki, K., Yoshida, S. et al. 2008. Antagonistic interaction between systemic acquired resistance and the abscisic acid-mediated abiotic stress response in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 20: 1678–1692.
- Ye, C.-Y., Li, T., Yin, H., Weston, D. J., Tuskan, G. A., Tschaplinski, T. J., and Yang, X. 2013. Evolutionary analyses of non-family genes in plants. *Plant J.* (DOI: 101111/tpj12073)
- Ye, X., Busov, V., Zhao, N., Meilan, R., McDonnell, L. M., Coleman, H. D., Mansfield, S. D., Chen, F., Li, Y., and Cheng, Z.-M. 2011. Transgenic *Populus* trees for forest products, bioenergy, and functional genomics *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.* 30:415–434.
- Ying, S., Zhang, D. F., Fu, J., Shi, Y. S., Song, Y. C., Wang, T. Y., and Li, Y. 2012. Cloning and characterization of a maize bZIP transcription factor, ZmbZIP72, confers drought and salt tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. *Planta* 235: 253–266.
- Yoshida, R., Hobo, T., Ichimura, K., Mizoguchi, T., Takahashi, F., Aronso, J., Ecker, J. R., and Shinozaki, K. 2002. ABA-activated SnRK2 protein kinase is required for dehydration stress signaling in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Physiol.* 43: 1473–1483.
- You, J., Hu, H., and Xiong, L. 2012. An ornithine delta-aminotransferase gene OsOAT confers drought and oxidative stress tolerance in rice. *Plant Sci.* 197: 59–69.
- Yuan, S. and Lin, H. H. 2008. Role of salicylic acid in plant abiotic stress. Zeitschrift Fur Naturforschung Section C-a Journal of Biosciences 63: 313–320.
- Zang, X. and Komatsu, S. 2007. A proteomics approach for identifying osmoticstress-related proteins in rice. *Phytochemistry* 68: 426–437.
- Zhang, G., Chen, M., Li, L., Xu, Z., Chen, X., Guo, J., and Ma, Y. 2009. Overexpression of the soybean GmERF3 gene, an AP2/ERF type transcription factor for increased tolerances to salt, drought, and diseases in transgenic tobacco. *J. Exp. Bot.* **60**: 3781–3796.
- Zhang, J. Y., Broeckling, C. D., Blancaflor, E. B., Sledge, M. K., Sumner, L. W., and Wang, Z. Y. 2005. Overexpression of WXP1, a putative *Medicago truncatula* AP2 domain-containing transcription factor gene, increases cuticular wax accumulation and enhances drought tolerance in transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*). *Plant J.* 42: 689– 707.
- Zhang, J. Z. 2003. Overexpression analysis of plant transcription factors. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 6: 430–440.
- Zhang, L., Yu, S., Zuo, K., Luo, L., and Tang, K. 2012. Identification of gene modules associated with drought response in rice by network-based analysis. *PLoS One* 7: e33748.
- Zhang, X., Wang, L., Meng, H., Wen, H., Fan, Y., and Zhao, J. 2011. Maize ABP9 enhances tolerance to multiple stresses in transgenic *Arabidopsis* by modulating ABA signaling and cellular levels of reactive oxygen species. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **75**: 365–378.

- Zhang, Y. Y., Yang, C. W., Li, Y., Zheng, N. Y., Chen, H., Zhao, Q. Z., Gao, T., Guo, H. S., and Xie, Q. 2007. SDIR1 is a RING finger E3 ligase that positively regulates stress-responsive abscisic acid signaling in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* **19**: 1912–1929.
- Zhao, B., Ge, L., Liang, R., Li, W., Ruan, K., Lin, H., and Jin, Y. 2009. Members of miR-169 family are induced by high salinity and transiently inhibit the NF-YA transcription factor. *BMC Mol. Biol.* 10: 29.
- Zheng, J., Fu, J., Gou, M., Huai, J., Liu, Y., Jian, M., Huang, Q., Guo, X., Dong, Z., Wang, H. et al. 2010. Genome-wide transcriptome analysis of two maize inbred lines under drought stress. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **72**: 407–421.
- Zheng, X., Chen, B., Lu, G., and Han, B. 2009. Overexpression of a NAC transcription factor enhances rice drought and salt tolerance. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 379: 985–989.
- Zhou, J. L., Lee, C. H., Zhong, R. Q., and Ye, Z. H. 2009. MYB58 and MYB63 are transcriptional activators of the lignin biosynthetic pathway during secondary cell wall formation in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 21: 248–266.

- Zhou, L., Liu, Y., Liu, Z., Kong, D., Duan, M., and Luo, L. 2010. Genomewide identification and analysis of drought-responsive microRNAs in *Oryza sativa*. J. Exp. Bot. 61: 4157–4168.
- Zhou, M. L., Ma, J. T., Zhao, Y. M., Wei, Y. H., Tang, Y. X., and Wu, Y. M. 2012. Improvement of drought and salt tolerance in *Arabidopsis* and *Lotus corniculatus* by overexpression of a novel DREB transcription factor from *Populus euphratica. Gene* **506**: 10–17.
- Zhou, Q. Y., Tian, A. G., Zou, H. F., Xie, Z. M., Lei, G., Huang, J., Wang, C. M., Wang, H. W., Zhang, J. S., and Chen, S. Y. 2008. Soybean WRKY-type transcription factor genes, GmWRKY13, GmWRKY21, and GmWRKY54, confer differential tolerance to abiotic stresses in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* **6**: 486–503.
- Zhu, J. K. 2002. Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* **53**: 247–273.
- Ziegelhoffer, E. C., Medrano, L. J., and Meyerowitz, E. M. 2000. Cloning of the Arabidopsis WIGGUM gene identifies a role for farnesylation in meristem development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97: 7633–768.